Distr.: General 4 March 2024

Original: English

Committee of Experts on International
Cooperation in Tax Matters
Twenty-eighth session
New York, 19-22 March 2024
Item 3(p) of the provisional agenda
Relationship of tax, trade and investment agreements

Co-Coordinators' Report

Summary

This paper outlines the current and proposed work of the Subcommittee on the Relationship of Tax, Trade and Investment Agreements, in accordance with the workstreams of the Subcommittee agreed by the Committee at the Twenty-fourth Session.

On Workstream A on the relationship of tax and investment agreements, the Subcommittee presented a draft outline for guidance for Committee discussion at the Twenty-seventh Session. The Subcommittee has taken into account the comments on that outline and submits, at Attachment A, a draft of the guidance for a first reading with a view to presenting a text for final approval to the Twenty-ninth Session.

On Workstream B, as part of work on examining options for improving guidance on the interaction of tax treaties with the WTO General Agreement on Trade in Services ("GATS"), the Subcommittee proposed at the Twenty-seventh session that the GATS provision currently found in the UN Model Tax Convention Commentary on Article 25 (at para 53) should be given greater visibility by including it directly into the text of the Model Article. The note at Attachment B proposes the transposition of that clause to the text of Article 25 itself and also seeks guidance from the Committee on a number of questions relating to this Workstream.

Workstream C (Other Issues in Trade Agreements or Mixed Trade and Investment Agreement) has not yet required separate attention, as the Subcommittee has been able to consider all issues relating to such agreements that have so far been identified as part of Workstreams A or B. *The Subcommittee recommends that no further action is necessary on Workstream C in the term of this Committee membership.*

Background and Subcommittee Mandate

- 1. Note <u>E/C.18/2021/CRP.36</u> ("the 2021 Note") on the relationship of taxation with trade and investment agreements gave a history of the UN Secretariat work on the interaction of taxation policy and administration, including an earlier note <u>E/C.18/2019/CRP.14</u> ("the 2019 Note") on similar issues. The 2021 Note recognized the work of the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) in that area, notably the March 2021 publication: <u>International Investment Agreements and their Implications for Tax Measures: What Tax Policymakers Need to Know.</u> UNCTAD consulted with the Secretariat and others when preparing that document, and the UNCTAD publication itself acknowledges the 2019 Note.
- 2. The 2021 Note addressed the need for guidance to tax policymakers and administrators on a variety of issues about the interaction of trade and investment treaties with tax policy and administration, including, but not limited to, tax treaties.
- 3. At the Twenty-third Session, the 2021 Note was considered and the <u>Report of that Session</u> noted the presentations made and the general discussion on the subject. As also indicated in the Report, at para 114:

The Committee agreed to establish a Subcommittee on the Relationship of Tax, Trade and Investment Agreements, with Ms. Kana, Mr. Ligomeka, and Mr. Roelofsen as Co-Coordinators, and with the following mandate:

The Subcommittee is mandated:

- To identify priority issues where guidance from the Committee may most usefully assist developing countries in differing situations, in particular, on the relationship of tax with investment and trade agreements, and initially report to the Committee on such issues at its Twenty-fourth Session, in 2022;
- Within the above context, to make proposals for consideration by the Committee, with a view to providing guidance at various points during the current membership of the Committee.

The Subcommittee may consult broadly, taking into account relevant work by other bodies in this area.

Subcommittee Workstream Progress and Key Developments

- 4. At the Committee's Twenty-fourth Session, three workstreams were proposed by the Subcommittee (E/C.18/2022/CRP.5) and accepted by the Committee, as reflected in the Report of that Session. They were:
 - Workstream A Tax and Investment Agreements:
 - Workstream B Tax and The General Agreement on Trade in Services (GATS); and
 - Workstream C Other Issues in Trade Agreements or Mixed Trade and Investment Agreements;

At that stage, the initial focus was on Workstream A.

- 5. At the Committee's Twenty-fifth Session, the Committee considered the outline of a paper prepared by Mr. Alain Castonguay, presented as an attachment to paper <u>E/C.18/2022/CRP.18</u>, and the discussions and conclusions helped shape the work since.
- 6. In the Co-Coordinators' Report to the Committee's Twenty-Sixth Session (<u>E/C.18/2023/CRP.2</u>) a short form of an outline of possible guidance on the relationship of tax and investment agreements was provided as well as the final form of Mr. Castonguay's consultant's report.
- 7. During the Session, Mr. Castonguay summarized the report, highlighting the key points: 1) the role and main features of international investment agreements, generally and in relation to tax measures, tax policy and double tax agreements; 2) the specific international investment agreement-

type provisions that interacted with tax, highlighting the issue of unintended consequences on taxation; and 3) some concrete steps to address the interaction in a whole-of-government way. Mr. Castonguay noted that the issue was significant because of the number of international investment agreements and their impact on taxation, especially given the increasing number of arbitration cases, many of which involve tax issues, and the related high cost of such "litigation". He recognized the legitimate role of international investment agreements, but also the legitimacy of tax officials' concerns, although his report did not propose specific solutions. The report noted the diverse treatment of tax in international investment agreements, with varying approaches. Finally, the report proposed how revenue officials could ensure that tax matters were properly considered at the country level as part of a whole-of-government approach, including participation in negotiation teams and involvement in dispute resolution.

- 8. At the Twenty-sixth Session a basic outline of possible guidance was presented for comment and at the Twenty-seventh Session a more detailed version was discussed. The <u>report of the Twenty-seventh Session</u> noted the discussions and outcomes at that session as follows:
 - 120. The Co-Coordinator of the Subcommittee on the Relationship of Tax, Trade and Investment Agreements, Waziona Ligomeka, presented the Co-Coordinators' report on the progress made in the Subcommittee's work and its workstreams (E/C.18/2023/CRP.30).
 - 121. With regard to workstream A, on taxation policy and administration measures and their relationship with international investment agreements, a draft outline of the guidance for tax and investment officials was presented, covering topics such as international investment agreement negotiations, interaction with domestic law and dispute prevention. A first draft of the guidance would be presented at the Committee's twenty-eighth session, with a final version expected to be presented for approval at the twenty-ninth session.
 - 122. With regard to workstream B, on the relationship between tax treaties and the General Agreement on Trade in Services of the World Trade Organization, the Subcommittee proposed that the General Agreement provision currently contained in the Model Convention commentary should be given greater visibility by including it directly into the text of the Model Convention article. The Subcommittee was also exploring the possibility of having an alternative "extended provision", designed to encompass other agreements, such as regional free trade agreements. In that regard, the Subcommittee would work closely with the Subcommittee on Updating the Model Convention with the aim of presenting a draft of the provision (and commentary) at the twenty-eighth session and a final version for approval during the twenty-ninth session.
 - 123. With regard to workstream C, on issues other than those addressed in workstreams A and B, no specific issues had yet been identified that could not be dealt with in those workstreams.
 - 124. Members and observers supported the detailed outline on workstream A. One member highlighted the importance of the participation of tax officials in the phases preceding the application of the dispute resolution mechanisms provided for in investment agreements. Another member noted that some agreements contained provisions specifically providing that, if the relevant tax authorities from two countries agreed that an action was not an expropriation, it was not treated as such under the agreement. It was confirmed that that option would be addressed in the guidance. Discussions served to highlight the potential differences concerning whether, and to what extent, taxation could be seen as contrary to investment treaty obligations, such as those relating to direct or indirect expropriation.
 - 125. The potentially difficult issues regarding the interaction of investment treaty dispute settlement through arbitration with tax dispute provisions in domestic law were noted. Lastly, another member suggested including work concerning the tax treatment of the awards given in arbitration procedures. Members and observers were thanked for their input, which would be taken into account in the work leading up to the twenty-eighth session.
- 9. After the Twenty-seventh Session, the Subcommittee met virtually to advance the workstreams on 7 December 2023, 18 January 2024, 2 February 2024 and 29 February 2024. Participants in the UN Model Update Subcommittee were also invited to attend.

Proposed Action on Workstream A

10. The *draft guidance at Attachment A to this paper is put forward for Committee consideration and comment*. Drawing upon the work so far and further comment at this Session, the Subcommittee proposes to put forward a further draft of the guidance at the Twenty-ninth Session, with a view to seeking final approval at that Session.

The GATS Issue

- 11. The **GATS** issue (Workstream B) was outlined in <u>CRP.36</u> of the Committee's Twenty-third Session. The following points are essentially extracted from that paper's analysis of the issue, with further detail now added on the "grandfathering" of pre-1995 double tax agreements, for clarification.
 - In examining compatibility of tax and non-tax agreements on these points, the World Trade Organisation (WTO) agreements are relevant both in their own right and because most non-discrimination provisions in non-tax agreements are based in significant part on the WTO provisions. The General Agreement on Trade in Services (GATS) is a trade agreement; however, it also constitutes an investment agreement because the definition of modes of service covers, in effect, investment through "commercial presence". When the GATS was negotiated, there was a concern that some tax measures where distinctions are made based on taxpayer resident might be in violation of the GATS National Treatment obligation. Both the OECD and UN Models note, in their commentaries to Article 24 (Non-Discrimination), that discrimination based on residence is not contrary to the National Treatment obligation.
 - The GATS has an exception allowing measures inconsistent with the National Treatment obligation where "the difference in treatment is aimed at ensuring the equitable or effective imposition or collection of direct taxes in respect of services or service suppliers of other Members". The GATS was amended, before its conclusion, to incorporate a footnote to that provision intended to illustrate with some degree of specificity what Members regarded as measures meeting the "equitable or effective" standard.
 - A provision was also included in the GATS stating that the National Treatment obligation could not be invoked under the Agreement's dispute settlement procedures: "with respect to a measure of another Member that falls within the scope of an international agreement between them relating to the avoidance of double taxation. In case of disagreement between Members as to whether a measure falls within the scope of such an agreement between them, it shall be open to either Member to bring this matter before the Council for Trade in Services". The final decision in the event of a dispute as to whether a measure falls within the scope of a tax agreement between them is therefore made by the Council for Trade in Services, a high-level body of country representatives at the WTO in Geneva referring the matter to binding resolution under the WTO dispute settlement procedure.
 - A footnote to that provision, however, stipulates that "[w]ith respect to agreements on the avoidance of double taxation which exist on the date of entry into force of the WTO Agreement, such a matter may be brought before the Council for Trade in Services only with the consent of both parties to such an agreement". This additional requirement thus places the decision with respect to the above issue in the hands of the parties, as opposed to the Council, and effectively provides an opportunity for taxation authorities of the parties to participate in such a decision, but only for what are now rather old treaties. The date of entry into force of the WTO Agreement was 1 January 1995.
 - Nevertheless, treaties concluded after the entry into force of the WTO Agreement and, arguably, existing treaties substantially amended after that date, are not captured by the language of the above-mentioned footnote. To address that issue, in its 1995 Commentary on Article 25, the OECD Model Double Tax Convention proposed language for inclusion in tax treaties. The effect of the wording is to ensure that tax treaties concluded or amended since 1995 receive the same "grandfathered" protections as pre-1995 treaties. The UN Model picks up the language

proposed, and the explanation of it. The OECD Commentary, as picked up in the UN Model, notes the potential difficulties of leaving these tax issues to trade experts as follows:

"Contracting States may wish to avoid these difficulties by extending bilaterally the application of the footnote to paragraph 3 of Article XXII of the GATS to conventions concluded after the entry into force of the GATS. Such a bilateral extension, which would supplement—but not violate in any way—the Contracting States' obligations under the GATS, could be incorporated in the convention by the addition of the following provision: 'For purposes of paragraph 3 of Article XXII (Consultation) of the General Agreement on Trade in Services, the Contracting States agree that, notwithstanding that paragraph, any dispute between them as to whether a measure falls within the scope of this Convention may be brought before the Council for Trade in Services, as provided by that paragraph, only with the consent of both Contracting States. Any doubt as to the interpretation of this paragraph shall be resolved under paragraph 3 of Article 25 or, failing agreement under that procedure, pursuant to any other procedure agreed to by both Contracting States."

- Surprisingly, very few countries, especially developing countries, make use of that provision. The decision on whether an issue is within the scope of a tax treaty is therefore left to non-tax experts in the WTO dispute settlement system.
- There is at least some question of whether the provision should be elevated from an option in the Model Commentaries to a provision in the text of the Convention itself. A similar provision may be useful in relation to other trade-related agreements, especially the increasingly common regional trade and investment agreements.
- 12. A background note on some of the issues in this area and where Committee decisions are sought is at Attachment B. The Subcommittee considered possible options for improving guidance to countries in this area and, as indicated at the Twenty-seventh Session, was of the view that, while the likelihood of this issue arising in practice remains uncertain, there is value in raising the prominence in the Model of the GATS clause found in both the OECD and UN Models. The Subcommittee considered that having the clause in the Text of Article 25 itself would help achieve this, without obvious disadvantages. Members of the Committee did not take a contrary review, and Attachment B proposes text for Article 25 to implement that change.
- 13. At the end of **Attachment B** a number of questions are put to the Committee for guidance, especially on a possible provision addressing the relationship between tax treaties and certain non-GATS agreements, such as regional and inter-regional trade and investment agreements a so-called "extended provision".
- 15. As Workstream B involves a possible input into the update of the UN Model, the Subcommittee has consulted with the Subcommittee on the Update of the UN Model Tax Convention as the work has progressed, and will continue to do so.

Proposed Action on Workstream B

16. The Subcommittee intends to submit further draft text to the Twenty-ninth Session for (i) finalization of the text of the GATS clause placed in Article 25 as well as (ii) a first reading of commentary for the GATS clause and (iii) a first reading of any drafting – Article text and/ or Commentary text – on any "extended provision", if any, as may be proposed. In the case of (ii) and (iii) the Subcommittee would seek finalization at the Thirtieth Session, the final session of this Membership.

Workstream C (Other Issues in Trade Agreements or Mixed Trade and Investment Agreements)

17. No current work towards this "gap-filling" Workstream C appears necessary at this stage, as no items have been identified that cannot be effectively addressed in the other workstreams (such as the possible extension of the GATS clause to Free Trade Agreements, as noted above). The Subcommittee recommends that no further action need be undertaken on this workstream during the term of this Committee Membership.

Sustainable Development Goals

- 18. As noted in the <u>Report of the Committee's Twenty-third Session</u>, held in October 2021, the Committee agreed:
 - (a) To continue to discuss taxation and the Sustainable Development Goals regularly during sessions, as a permanent agenda item;
 - (b) To request the secretariat to provide regular updates on taxation and the Sustainable Development Goals, at each session:
 - (i) To preserve the focus of the Committee's work in the area;
 - (ii) To identify any gaps in guidance;
 - (iii) To establish priorities for technical work to be carried out by the secretariat; and
 - (c) To have subcommittees reflect on the link between their work and the Goals.
- 19. In addressing paragraph (c) of that conclusion, the subcommittee recognizes that by promoting fair and effective tax systems, which support both revenue and trade and investment for development, through guidance products and through advising UN DESA on capacity building activities, the Committee's work contributes to achieving the interlinked SDGs as a totality.
- 20. More specifically in relation to the work of the Subcommittee, an effective guidance effort in this area will promote the balance of revenue needs and the development-focused investment climate which many countries seek, by promoting whole of government and informed approaches to interlinked tax, trade and investment policy objectives. This builds greater certainty for all stakeholders in tax systems. While contributing to achieving all the interlinked SDGs, this will particularly contribute to: SDG 16 (Peace, Justice and Strong Institutions) in terms of helping develop effective, accountable and transparent institutions at all levels; and SDG 17 (Global Partnerships for the Goals), in terms of strengthening domestic resource mobilization, including through international support to developing countries, to improve domestic capacity for tax and other revenue collection.

Addressing the Issue of Taxation in International Investment Agreements Guidance for Tax and Investment Officials for the Implementation of an Integrated Approach*
February 2024

* Prepared by Alain Castonguay as a consultant to UNDESA in consultation with the Subcommittee on the

Relationship of Tax, Trade and Investment Treaties

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Τa	ible of	contents	2	
1.	Intr	oduction	4	
2.	Purj	pose and Features of International Investment Agreements	6	
	2.1	Basic Purpose and Operation	6	
	2.2	Key Facts	7	
	2.3	Investment Policy Background	8	
3.	The	Impact of International Investment Agreements on Tax Policy and Administration	9	
	3.1	How IIAs Impact Taxation	9	
	3.2	Policy Flexibility	10	
	3.3	Financial Implications	10	
4.	Hov	w Key Provisions of International Investment Agreements Affect Taxation	11	
	4.1	Introduction	11	
	4.2	Definition of "Investors of a Party" and "Investment"	12	
	4.3	National Treatment (NT)	12	
	4.4	Most Favoured Nation (MFN)	14	
	4.5	Fair and Equitable Treatment (FET)	15	
	4.6	Full Protection and Security (FPS)	17	
	4.7	Expropriation	17	
	4.8	Transfer of Funds	19	
	4.9	Umbrella Provisions	19	
	4.10	Investor-State Dispute Settlement (ISDS)	19	
	4.11	Tax Provisions	21	
5.	Tax	-relevant Elements of Potential Reforms of International Investment Agreements	22	
6.	A Framework to Address the Tax Aspects of International Investment Agreements			
	6.1	Introduction	22	
	6.2	Importance of Developing a Framework	23	
	6.2.	1 Why a Framework is Necessary	23	
	6.2.	2 How to Develop a Framework: Consider a Whole-of-Government Approach	23	
	6.3	Developing and Implementing a Framework	25	
	6.3.			
	App	oroach	23	

	6.3.2	Developing a Substantive Position on the Treatment of Taxation	26
	6.3.3	Participating in IIA Negotiations	27
	6.3.4	Participating in IIA Litigation	28
7.	Conclus	ions	29
Anr	nex 1		31
Anr	6.3.4 Participating in IIA Litigation 28 7. Conclusions 29 Annex 1 31 Annex 2 33		
Anr	nex 3		39

1. Introduction

- 1. Many tax policymakers and tax administrators are familiar with the purpose and operation of double taxation agreements (DTAs), which are international agreements intended to encourage cross-border trade and investment. They do so by allocating taxing rights between the parties, reducing source-state taxation of certain categories of income, relieving double taxation and providing a facility for the resolution of disagreements between taxation authorities. Tax experts however, whether officials of small, developing or developed economies, may not be familiar with the purpose, operation and especially implications for taxation measures of international investment agreements (IIAs). This Report is addressed to them. Likewise, experts versed in the workings of IIAs, including investment negotiators, may not fully appreciate the issues and concerns that such agreements may raise with tax experts and, thus, may find this Report useful.
- 2. Like DTAs, IIAs are legally binding treaties concluded between countries to encourage cross-border investment and economic growth. IIAs achieve this objective by conferring protection to investors of a country in respect of investments made in the other country (the host country). Such protection is comprised of a number of standards such as non-discrimination against foreign investors and their investments, fair and equitable treatment of foreign investors and investments and other specific commitments, which are legally enforceable through a dispute settlement mechanism between a foreign investor and the host state, which may be commenced by an investor alleging a breach of the agreement.
- 3. The obligations found in IIAs apply in respect of "measures of a party". The latter's definition is quite wide and, therefore, taxation measures are subject to the provisions of IIAs. Measures (be it legislative, regulatory or administrative practice) of the host country may therefore be the object of a complaint from an investor of the other country, the merit of which is usually adjudicated by an *ad hoc* international tribunal created in accordance with provisions set out in the IIA. Investors' allegations may arise under an IIA that would not arise under a DTA because the nature of their respective obligations differs significantly and because, unlike under a DTA's mutual agreement procedure, the investor alone (without the participation of its home country) may commence dispute settlement proceedings and is thus the claimant in the dispute against the host country.
- 4. Tax policymakers tend to be concerned with risks that IIAs pose for the integrity of their tax system for two main reasons: first, because what are generally regarded as legitimate taxation measures may be the object of challenges under IIAs and, second, because of the somewhat unpredictable nature of decisions handed out by international arbitral tribunals. A particular additional concern of relevance, especially for smaller economies, is the significant cost of litigation associated with the conduct of international arbitration and the potentially large financial impact of arbitral awards when a tribunal rules in favor of investors. As a result, uncertainty regarding how the obligations found in IIAs may apply to taxation measures and the potential for substantial monetary damage arising from a finding by an arbitral tribunal that a taxation measure is inconsistent with a provision of an IIA may somewhat limit the scope of tax policy choices available for governments. They may also affect the manner with which taxes are administered and enforced, as IIA provisions also include standards of due process that must be afforded to investors.
- 5. The purpose of this Report is to raise awareness of the concerns described in the previous paragraph, primarily among tax officials (but also investment officials) and to propose a number of tools and strategies that can assist in effectively addressing these challenges. It will do so by:
 - (i) providing a brief description of the most relevant features of IIAs;
 - (ii) providing an analysis of the implications of IIAs for taxation measures;

- (iii) formulating approaches based on best practices currently followed by a number of countries to include provisions dedicated to taxation in IIAs to minimize risks and protect tax policy space, without undermining the basic purpose of IIAs; and
- (iv) formulating recommendations to empower tax officials, in the context of an integrated, whole-of-government approach, to ensure tax officials actively participate, in cooperation with colleagues responsible for investment policy, in all aspect of the management of IIAs, as it concerns the area of taxation.
- 6. Taken together, the guidance set out in this Report should enable tax officials to:
 - (i) understand IIAs and their implications for taxation measures and the country's network of DTAs;
 - (ii) develop, in cooperation with IIA negotiators, a country position on the treatment of taxation in IIAs:
 - (iii) integrate tax officials with the team responsible for the negotiation of the tax provisions of IIAs, in particular provisions related to taxation;
 - (iv) gain awareness, through various information channels, including close relationship with country experts involved in IIA litigation, of emerging IIA disputes that concern taxation matters; and
 - (v) cooperate with the country's IIA litigation team in the formulation of the country's position with respect to a claim made by a foreign investor in respect of a taxation measure and directly participate in the process, where mandated by the terms of the IIA.
- 7. The Report is organized as follows: Section 2 provides a description of the main provisions of IIAs, and explains how they operate in practice. It also sets out key facts about IIAs and briefly situates IIAs in the broader context of both investment policy and tax policy. Section 3 provides an overview of how IIAs may impact taxation measures and tax administration. It focuses on how IIAs may limit flexibility in the development and implementation of tax policy and on the potential financial impact of litigation under the IIA, both from the point of view of participation as well as the payment of awards to foreign investors. Section 4 provides a more detailed explanation of how IIAs may affect taxation measures. For this purpose, the section reviews several of the key elements contained in IIAs and provides an analysis of their interaction with taxation that reflect past arbitral cases. Section 5 offers an overview of existing international efforts (in particular within the United Nations) aimed at addressing shortcomings that have been identified with the content and application of IIAs, with a focus on elements of potential reforms that are most relevant to the issues raised in this Report in respect of taxation. Finally, section 6 proposes a comprehensive framework for tax policy officials designed to address the tax aspects of IIAs. Intended mostly for the benefit of tax officials but also of interest to investment officials, the section begins with a discussion of the importance for tax agencies to consider the implementation of such a framework, based on a whole-of-government approach, that will secure a role for tax officials in the handling of the tax aspects of IIAs. The section then sets out non-prescriptive guidance on the design of a taxation article for inclusion in IIAs. It is followed by guidance intended to set out the role of tax officials in the negotiation of IIAs, as well as in support of the management of any IIA litigation that concerns a taxation measure.

2. Purpose and Features of International Investment Agreements

2.1 Basic Purpose and Operation

- 8. IIAs¹ are international treaties entered between states which set out rights and obligations for the contracting parties and for investors and their investments. They provide a framework intended to encourage cross-border investment, by providing legal predictability for investors, through the imposition of a number of obligations on the parties as well as procedures to address disputes regarding the interpretation and application of the agreement. Host countries enter into IIAs to attract foreign investment into their market to support economic development, for example in the extractive industries or the manufacturing sector. Foreign investment can encourage technological advancements, employment and foster a more competitive economy. Capital-exporting countries enter into IIAs to provide their enterprises a framework within which they may pursue opportunities to invest and expand in new markets.²
- 9. IIAs contain substantive obligations applicable to each contracting party which set out the conditions under which a host country must treat the investment and investors of the other party. They also contain procedures to address complaints by investors that one or more measures imposed by a host country do not accord with the substantive obligations of the agreement. Disputes are examined and adjudicated by an international arbitral tribunal formed under rules set out in the agreement, which may issue a legally-binding decision compelling the host state to pay monetary damages to investors commensurate with the injury that, according to the tribunal, the investor suffered as a result of the imposition of the disputed measure.
- 10. IIAs typically have a wide scope of application, as they apply in respect of all measures of a party, with the term "measure" being given a wide meaning which includes laws, regulations, administrative practices, etc. Likewise, they apply to "investors" and their "investment" which are also given a wide meaning, encompassing tangible and intangible assets, direct as well as portfolio investment and direct and indirect ownership of property. As will be seen later, the open-ended nature of this definition also opens the door to unintended consequences, similar to what is known in the tax world as "treaty shopping".
- 11. The key obligations contained in IIAs require the contracting parties to refrain from imposing discriminatory measures on foreign investors and their investments. There are two non-discrimination standards: Under the national treatment (NT) standard, an investment of a national of a country must be granted by the host country a treatment no less favourable than that afforded an investment in the same country held by a national of that country. Under the most favoured nation (MFN) standard, an investment of a national of a country must be granted by the host country a treatment no less favourable than that afforded an investment in the same country held by a national of a third country. Both standards are relative standards: irrespective of the intrinsic impact of a measure on investment or investors, the standards are respected if the measure does not apply less favourably in respect of foreign investors compared to domestic (or third country) investment/investors.
- 12. IIAs also require the parties to adhere to minimum standards of due process and protection and security as well as insuring the fair and equitable treatment (FET) of foreign investors. These standards differ from the non-discrimination provisions, as they set an absolute standard of conduct for the host

¹ In this Report, IIA refers to either a stand-alone investment agreement or the investment chapter contained in a comprehensive free trade agreement.

² This Report does not address the empirical question of whether IIAs are effective tools to encourage cross-border investment nor the policy question of whether countries should enter into IIAs. The starting point of this Report is that IIAs exist and that tax policymakers benefit from being made aware of their existence, of their impact on tax policy and of the proactive steps that they can consider to limit their impact on their ability to develop and implement tax policy.

country, intended to impose a floor below which measures may be regarded as resulting in abusive treatment or the denial of justice. There exist several different variations of such provisions in IIAs and they, more than other obligations of IIAs, tend to be given different interpretations by different international tribunals, making it difficult to predict their application in particular situations.

- 13. Section 4 will describe the various elements that comprise the FET standard. However, one particular element has proven to be a significant source of uncertainty in the course of litigation before international tribunals. Allegations that given measures frustrate the "legitimate expectations" of investors, and the various interpretations and applications of that concept by international tribunals, have put into question the ability of countries to legislate and regulate in the public interest when the implementation of the said policy has the effect of reducing the profitability of investments held by foreign investors. Investors tend to argue in the course of IIA complaints that any measure that negatively affects the profitability of their investment is a breach of the FET standard. A common understanding of the concept has proven to be somewhat elusive, as its application depends both on the facts of the case and the interpretation given to it by arbitral tribunals.
- 14. IIAs include provisions that set out the conditions under which a country may conduct a lawful expropriation of the property held by foreign investors. These conditions are that the expropriation must be for a public purpose, carried out in a non-discriminatory manner, under due process of law and against the payment of appropriate compensation to the foreign investor. The provision encompasses both direct expropriation (takings or nationalizations of property) as well as indirect expropriation, which includes measures that amount to direct expropriation, that result in a total or near-total deprivation of an investment (through the investor's inability to control, manage or use it) or the destruction of its value.
- 15. The provisions of IIAs are enforced not under the domestic law and judicial system of the host country, but by an autonomous dispute resolution mechanism set out therein. Under the investor-state dispute settlement (ISDS) provisions, investors, not the country where they reside, can lodge a complaint that one or more measures of the host country that affect their investment are contrary to that country's obligations under the agreement. A complaint usually triggers the formation of an international tribunal to hear the allegations. Arbitrators are tasked with interpreting the relevant provisions of the IIA as they apply to the specific facts of the case in order to determine whether the disputed measures are inconsistent with the terms of the agreement. Where they make such findings, arbitrators must then determine the financial loss, if any, incurred by the investor as a result of the imposition of the measures, for purposes of determining the amount of financial compensation that the host country is required to pay to it to compensate for such loss. Arbitral awards are final, as IIAs do not include an appeal mechanism. Domestic courts may be called upon to enforce the terms of arbitral decisions.

2.2 Key Facts

16. There are more than 2,500 IIAs currently in force, including over 300 bilateral and plurilateral treaties that may have a broader operation but also include investment provisions³. The first IIA was signed in 1959 between Germany and Pakistan.⁴ ⁵ It is generally understood that the first IIA to include legally

³ See UNCTAD's Investment Policy Hub, *International Investment Agreements Navigator*, available at: https://investmentpolicy.unctad.org/international-investment-agreements/.

⁴ UNCTAD (2006), *The Entry into Force of Bilateral Investment Treaties (BITs)*, IIA Monitor No. 3 (2006), International Investment Agreements, United Nations, New York and Geneva. This publication includes statistics on the number of IIAs that were signed and entered into force during the 1990-2005 period.

⁵ For a detailed review of the evolution of the IIAs network between 1959 and 2000, see UNCTAD (2000), *Bilateral Investment Treaty*, United Nations, New York and Geneva, available at: https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/431727?ln=en.

binding investor-state dispute settlement provision was the Indonesia-Netherland IIA of 1968. The number of IIAs grew considerably during the last 20 years of the 20th century, from 385 to more than 1,850, encompassing more than 170 countries.⁷

- 17. The content of IIAs has become more sophisticated over time, and this is especially true with respect to how they address taxation issues. This evolution has occurred as countries gained experience with the operation of IIAs and, in particular, how their provisions were interpreted by arbitral tribunals. Thus, a distinction is often made between "first-generation" IIAs and more recent ones, that is, agreements signed after 2010. Generally, more recent IIAs differ from first-generation agreements in the manner with which they define investment and investors, the breadth of the FET and indirect expropriation provisions, as well as whether (and how) they address the treatment of taxation. A review of ISDS decisions rendered by arbitral tribunals in 2021 has shown that about 95 per cent of them concerned claims based on oldgeneration agreements.⁸
- Work is on-going, in particular at the United Nations, to further refine the provision of IIAs in 18. response to concerns with, and identified weaknesses of, IIAs, in particular the first-generation agreements. The objective is to facilitate the interpretation, amendment and replacement of older IIAs. These efforts are described briefly in section 5.

2.3 **Investment Policy Background**

- 19. While this Report focuses on the specific intersection of IIAs and taxation, it is useful to briefly situate this issue into a much broader context, both as regards foreign direct investment (FDI) and taxation policy more generally.
- 20. Countries, in particular developing countries, must make difficult policy decisions with respect to the manner with which they promote economic development and they implement investment policy, including FDI policy, having regards to the limited government resources available. They must carefully select the economic objectives that they can and should realistically pursue as well as the array of tools available to them for that purpose. In doing so, they must take into account competing policy goals, such as tackling climate change, as well as the financial and budgetary constraints that they face and the intense international competition that exists for FDI.
- In this context, IIAs represent one among several tools that can be used to attract FDI in a country. 21. Incentives, including tax incentives (exemption, tax rate reductions, tax credits, tax holidays, etc.) are also widely used for that purpose. There exists a wide body of literature on the use, cost and effectiveness of tax incentives as a means of attracting FDI and a meaningful discussion of these issues is beyond the scope of this Report.
- 22. Annex 1 offers a selection of publications that address these and other relevant issues.

⁶ World Investment Report 2015: Reforming International Investment Governance. Chapter IV: Reforming the International Investment Regime: An Action Menu. United Nations, New York and Geneva. Available at: https://worldinvestmentreport.unctad.org/wir2015/wir2015-ch4-reforming-the-international-investment-regime/ United Nations.

⁷ *Ibid*, Figure 1, p. 1 and p. 4.

⁸ UNCTAD (2023). IIA Issue Note No. 1, Review of 2021 Investor-State Arbitration Decisions: Insights for IIA Reform, United Nations, July 2023. Available at: https://investmentpolicy.unctad.org/publications/1284/review-of-2021-investor-state-arbitration-decisions-insights-for-iia-reform.

⁹ World Investment Report 2015, supra note 6.

3. The Impact of International Investment Agreements on Tax Policy and Administration

3.1 How IIAs Impact Taxation

- 23. Taxation measures and tax administration practices can run foul of provisions of IIAs. While section 4 provides a detailed analysis of relevant provisions and how they can affect taxation measures, this section briefly outlines how this can happen and sets out the consequences of an adverse arbitral decision in respect of a disputed taxation measure.
- 24. Governments design tax policy with the principal goal of achieving a fair and efficient means of collecting revenues and, in addition, may rely on certain categories of taxes (for example, the income tax) as tools to pursue economic, social and income distributional goals. Whether through the granting or denial of benefits to certain categories of taxpayers or in respect of certain categories of income or expenses, the design of provisions for that purpose necessarily requires that distinctions be made among defined categories of taxpayers. However, IIAs generally prohibit discrimination based on the nationality of investors. It is possible for taxation measures to be *de jure* or *de facto* inconsistent with that requirement¹⁰. Government officials crafting policies may not be aware that their design decisions may produce outcomes that are inconsistent with non-discrimination provisions in IIAs; they may not be aware that such provisions exist at all.
- 25. Tax laws are not static and tax policymakers are constantly called upon to adjust, if not change significantly, existing tax laws either to reflect new national priorities or to protect the tax system against the latest emerging abusive tax avoidance scheme. Such changes, in particular if they are significant and if they are implemented with little notice or public consultation, may result in certain foreign investors alleging that the changes have significantly decreased the expected profitability of their investment in the country, relative to what was expected under the tax rules as they existed at the time the decision to invest was made. This may trigger disputes under an IIA and invite scrutiny of the disputed taxation measures by an international arbitral tribunal.
- 26. Likewise, tax administrative practices, while governed by provisions of relevant tax laws, leave significant discretion in the hands of tax administrations, for example, the selection of taxpayers or transactions for audits, the interpretation of the law, decisions and enforcement actions taken in the course of an audit, etc. Tax administrators may not be aware of the various minimum standards of treatment contained in IIAs. As a result, foreign investors may complain that decisions made by taxation authorities in the course of a tax examination that concerns them amount to an abuse of process, a denial of due process, or even *de facto* discrimination. In short, administrative practices are not immune from claims by foreign investors under an IIA.
- 27. The extent to which IIAs may affect tax policy and administration depends significantly on how the provisions of the particular IIA itself address matters of taxation. Many older IIAs do not contain provisions dealing with taxation, except perhaps to coordinate the application of an existing DTA in force between the parties. In such circumstances, mainstream taxation measures, including those which are specifically allowed under the terms of a DTA, may be potentially vulnerable to a finding that they contravene the IIA's national treatment obligations. Where a dispute concerning a tax matter occurs, it is ultimately adjudicated by an international arbitral tribunal under the ISDS process. In contrast, many newer IIAs contain comprehensive taxation provisions which specify in what circumstances its obligations apply in respect of taxation measures. For example, it may stipulate that the national treatment obligation does not apply to income tax measures. Moreover, such provisions may also include rules which modify the

Attachment A - 9

¹⁰ In contrast, discrimination provisions under tax treaties only consider whether the measure is discriminatory from a *de jure* perspective.

operation of the ISDS process in respect of disputed taxation measures. They may do so by assigning a direct role to the contracting parties' tax experts, allowing them to make certain determinations prior to the commencement of the ISDS process that may ultimately exclude a disputed taxation measure from the scope of the dispute settlement process.

28. In constraining tax policy and administration, IIAs' consequences for governments include, first, imposing a constraint on the ability to implement policies that pursue legitimate public policy goals and, second, exacting a financial impact, as regards the management of disputes before international tribunals, as well as the payment of arbitral awards to foreign investors.

3.2 Policy Flexibility

- 29. The various obligations imposed on governments by IIAs can constrain the range of measures they can adopt or the actions they can take to enact new policies or amend existing ones. This is true for the specific field of tax policy and administration. The most direct way this can materialize is when an international tribunal finds that a taxation measure implemented by the host country ran foul of one or more obligations of an applicable IIA. Beyond the financial consequences, discussed in subsection 3.3, the government of the host country may find it untenable to maintain the disputed measure in effect, if the risk exists that other investors potentially affected by it might also bring complaints under the same or similarly-worded IIAs. In this situation, the government may have no choice but to repeal or amend the disputed measure to remove the features that make it inconsistent with its IIA obligations.
- 30. The second-order impact of IIAs on tax policy concerns their incidence on the formulation of future tax policy. The mere fact that the country is bound by IIAs introduces an additional parameter to be taken into account by tax policymakers: is the contemplated measure consistent with the country's obligations under IIAs? Design decisions will be affected by the concern to avoid or minimize the exposure to litigation risks under its IIAs. As a result, the contour of specific taxation measures ultimately implemented may differ as a result. Likewise, care must be exercised by tax administrators as regards the manner with which they engage with foreign investors, to avoid the appearance that administrative practices or procedures are applied to them in a discriminatory manner (e.g., conducting a disproportionate number of audits of foreignowned businesses) or in a manner that constitutes an abuse of procedures (e.g., failing to respect the due process rights granted taxpayers in tax laws or in the judicial system).

3.3 Financial Implications

31. The financial consequences of having to defend against investor allegations before international arbitral tribunals can be significant. First, depending on the nature of the case, the financial compensation awarded by tribunals, when a country is found to be in breach of an IIA, can be important, and disproportionately so for small or developing countries. Figures for ISDS cases settled before May 2020 show that investors that were successful, on average claimed some \$1.2 billion¹¹ in compensation and were

_

¹¹ Unless otherwise indicated, all amounts cited in this Report are in US dollars.

awarded \$438 million¹² ¹³. More than 50 cases produced awards in excess of more than \$100 million. ¹⁴ According to 2021 data¹⁵, out of almost 2,000 disputes arising under IIAs, 165 of those concerned taxation measures. Analysis based on a sub-sample of 32 tax-related cases ¹⁶ reveals that slightly more than 50 percent of them were won by investors. Of these cases, 60 per cent were brought against developing countries. Investors from developed countries brought over 90 per cent of tax-related claims.

32. Beyond the amount of awards, the cost of participating in ISDS proceedings as respondent can be significant. While estimates vary, it is said that the average cost of litigation for investors is \$6.4 million; the median figure is \$3.8 million. For respondent countries the average cost is \$4.7 million and the median cost is \$2.6 million, but the cost of certain cases for defendants can be multiple times that latter figure ^{17 18}. In addition, litigation can absorb resources of respondents for years. The average length of ISDS proceedings is 4.4 years (with a median of 3.8 years), but cases with amounts at play over \$1 billion can take twice as much time to resolve.¹⁹

4. How Key Provisions of International Investment Agreements Affect Taxation

4.1 Introduction

33. This section examines in some detail the main elements of IIAs, how they operate generally and how they may affect taxation measures.²⁰ IIAs, like other international treaties, are structured to include a description of its object and its scope; a definition of key terms; the rights and obligations imposed on the

¹² Matthew Hodgson, Yarik Kryvoi and Daniel Hrčka, 2021 *Empirical Study: Costs, Damages and Duration in Investor-State Arbitration*, Allen & Overy and BIICL, London, 2021, at 28.

¹³ These figures are somewhat skewed upward by a series of high amounts (totalling \$50 billion) awarded in compensation in connection with a singular series of controversial cases which arose as a result of the nationalization of Yukos by Russia in 2003. Removing such awards bring down the respective figures to \$817.3 million claimed and \$169.5 million awarded. In short, the Yukos case refer to claims made in 2005 by several foreign shareholders of the company under the *Energy Charter Treaty* that the government of Russia expropriated the company through several acts, taken starting in 2003, including taxes, fines and enforcement measures, that led to the company's bankruptcy in 2006. The case is exceedingly complex and highly unusual in many respects and it remains to this day under litigation is the courts of several countries. This Report will not consider it further.

¹⁴ Bonnitcha, Jonathan and Brewin, Sarah, *Compensation Under Investment Treaties: What are the problems and what can be done?* The International Institute for Sustainable Development. Policy Brief, Winnipeg, December 2020. Figure 1 at p. 2 shows the progression over time of awards.

¹⁵ UNCTAD (2022). IIA Issue Note No. 1. Facts on Investor–State Arbitrations in 2021: With a Special Focus on Tax-Related ISDS Cases. United Nations, July 2022. Available at: https://investmentpolicy.unctad.org/publications/1266/facts-on-investor-state-arbitrations-in-2021-with-a-special-focus-on-tax-related-isds-cases. Annex provides a list of such cases spawning from 1987 to 2021.

¹⁶ Chaisse, Julien and Kirkwood, Jamieson (2021). Foreign Investors vs. National Tax Measures: Assessing the Role of International Investment Agreements. In Mosquera Valderrama, I. J., Lesage, D. and Lips, W. (Eds.) Taxation, International Cooperation and the 2030 Sustainable Development Agenda. United Nations University Series on Regionalism, Vol 19, Springer. Available at: https://link.springer.com/book/10.1007/978-3-030-64857-2. See Chapter 8, at 150.

¹⁷ Matthew Hodgson, Yarik Kryvoi and Daniel Hrčka, *supra* note 12, at 10.

¹⁸Anecdotal evidence suggests that countries incur high costs either on particular cases or because they must face multiple cases. For examples, see figures cited in Samples, Tim R., *Winning and Losing in Investor–State Dispute Settlement*, American Business Law Journal, Volume 56, Issue 1, 115–175, Spring 2019, at 151-152.

¹⁹ Matthew Hodgson, Yarik Kryvoi and Daniel Hrčka, *supra* note 12, at 32.

²⁰ This section is a condensed version of the analysis found in Castonguay, Alain (2023) *The Treatment of Taxation in International Investment Agreements: Issues Raised and Possible Policy Responses*, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, United Nations, New York, available at: https://financing.desa.un.org/what-we-do/ECOSOC/tax-committee/thematic-areas/tax-trade-and-investment-treaties

contracting parties; reservations and exclusions; and an enforcement mechanism in the form of legally-binging ISDS procedures.

4.2 Definition of "Investors of a Party" and "Investment"

- 34. The terms "investor of a party" and "investment" are given definitions that go beyond what is generally understood to be encompassed by the term "foreign direct investment" (FDI is generally defined as an investment involving a long-term relationship and reflecting a lasting interest and control by a resident entity in the host country)²¹. The definition of the term tends to be open-ended and includes direct and portfolio investment, direct and indirect ownership and tangible and intangible assets. While the goal of an extensive definition of investment is to accommodate a wide range of investment modes under IIAs, it can also result in unintended consequences.
- 35. While the benefits of IIAs are intended to accrue to investors of the parties to the agreement, complex and creative corporate structures can result in investors of third countries gaining access to the benefits of the agreement. Tax officials familiar with DTAs will recognize this as akin to the phenomenon of "treaty-shopping." IIAs seek to limit the scope of this issue by including therein denial of benefit provisions, which allow the host country to disregard companies with little or no substance in the host country and which set out a threshold of acceptable "economic presence" or level of substantive business activity in the country. While arbitral tribunals have been reluctant in the past to limit the scope of application of IIAs absent a denial of benefits provision, the growing incidence of treaty shopping has seen arbitral tribunals increasingly open to arguments that aggressive forms of treaty shopping constitute an "abuse of right" (a legal concept derived from national legal systems, mostly the civil codes of European countries). Under this doctrine, the creation of a company for the purpose of enjoying benefits under an IIA may constitute an abuse of right, and where such a finding is made, a tribunal will conclude that it, in fact, does not have jurisdiction over the investor claim under the IIA.²² Perhaps this is an area where investment negotiators would benefit from becoming acquainted with reforms proposed and implemented under Action 6 of the BEPS project²³ to address treaty shopping in the tax area.

4.3 National Treatment (NT)

36. National treatment is the non-discrimination standard which bars a different treatment of investors and investment on the basis of nationality. Under this standard, an investment of a national of a country bound by an IIA with another (host) country, is to be treated in the host country in a manner no less favourable than an investment in the same country of a national of that country. NT is a relative standard: any measure of a country, be it favourable or detrimental towards a given economic sector, does not breach the NT standard as long as it does not apply less favourably to foreign investors and their investment relative to domestic investment. The provision is generally interpreted to prohibit both *de jure* discrimination (that is, a difference in treatment spelled out in a law or regulation) as well as *de facto* discrimination (reflected in a different application of a law or a policy). The language of some provisions includes the term "in like circumstances" or "in similar situations". The addition of such terms is understood to require that the comparison to be made under the standard between investors or investments take into account the totality

²¹ World Investment Report 2007: Transnational Corporations, Extractive Industries and Development. United Nations, New York and Geneva, at 245.

²² See Chaisse, Julien (2015) *The Treaty Shopping Practice: Corporate Structuring and Restructuring to Gain Access to Investment Treaties and Arbitration*, 11 Hastings Bus. L.J. 225. Available at: https://repository.uchastings.edu/hastings_business_law_journal/vol11/iss2/1.

²³ Relevant documents on current work on this area can be found on the webpage of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) at: https://www.oecd.org/tax/beps/beps-actions/action6/.

of circumstances, including legitimate policy objectives pursued by the measure²⁴. It remains uncertain, however, whether this qualification alone would permit the types of distinctions usually found in income tax laws.

- 37. Indeed, income tax policy encompasses several distinctions among taxpayers that are based on well-reasoned rationales which may, *prima facie*, be construed as being inconsistent with the NT standard. This is because the principle of full taxation, generally on a worldwide basis, rests on the concept of residence, which means that income tax laws necessarily provide for different treatment between resident and non-resident taxpayers. Residence is also fundamental to the apportionment of taxing rights between contracting parties to a DTA. The residence criterion is not based on nationality: a non-national can be a resident and *vice versa*.
- 38. Income tax laws contain different categories of distinctions based on the residence of taxpayers. First, there are measures which are directed exclusively at non-resident taxpayers. The most common are in the form of dedicated collection mechanisms owing to the fact that non-residents are not subject to worldwide taxation, for example withholding tax on payments (dividends, interest, royalties, etc.) made to non-residents. Since most non-resident recipients tend to be non-nationals, one could envisage a complaint alleging this mechanism is *de facto* discriminatory under the NT standard of IIA.
- 39. The second category of measures are those affecting resident taxpayers in respect of specific transactions entered with non-resident taxpayers. In such a case, while the measure applies to a resident, it could be argued to constitute an indirect form of discrimination against a non-national. An example is thin capitalization rules, in substance anti-avoidance measures intended to protect the tax base, which may restrict the deduction of interest payments made to related non-resident creditors when such interest is in respect of what is regarded as "excessive" indebtedness. The goal of such measures is to limit the extent of the stripping of taxable profits in the form of tax-deductible interest payments.
- 40. Finally, the third category of measures are those which limit certain tax benefits to resident taxpayers. Among those are certain deductions and credits relevant to the calculation of personal income tax, such as those granted on the basis of civil status or family responsibility. These include, for example, deductions, credits or exemptions for spouses, children, old age, low-income taxpayers, or that pursue other social objectives. The granting of such benefits assumes that the taxpayer enjoying them is taxable on a worldwide basis and thus, that it would not be appropriate for non-resident individuals to enjoy them.
- 41. DTAs include non-discrimination provisions that take into account the type of distinctions described above. The first sentence of paragraph 1 of Article 24 (Non-Discrimination) of the UN Model reads as follows (emphasis added):

Nationals of a Contracting State shall not be subjected in the other Contracting State to any taxation or any requirement connected therewith which is other or more burdensome than the taxation and connected requirements to which nationals of that other State in the same circumstances, in particular with respect to residence, are or may be subjected.

42. The provision makes clear that rules that make distinctions based on residence are not intended to offend the non-discrimination provision otherwise set out by paragraph 1, and that one cannot argue that "a different treatment based on residence is indirectly a discrimination based on nationality for purposes of

-

²⁴ UNCTAD (2021). International Investment Agreements and Their Implications for Tax Measures: What Tax Policymakers Need to Know – A Guide Based on UNCTAD's Investment Policy Framework for Sustainable Development. New York and Geneva: United Nations, at 21. Available at: https://unctad.org/webflyer/international-investment-agreements-and-their-implications-tax-measures-what-tax.

that paragraph".²⁵ The Commentary on paragraph 1 also specifies that the term "in the same circumstances" refers to taxpayers that are, in relation to applicable tax laws, in substantially similar circumstances both in law and in fact.

- 43. As regards a specific category of distinctions made in income tax laws discussed earlier, paragraph 3 of Article 24 is quite explicit in that the non-discrimination provision set out therein cannot be construed to oblige a country to grant non-residents "any personal allowances, reliefs and reductions for taxation purposes on account of civil status or family responsibilities which it grants to its own residents".
- 44. As a result, as described in section 6, most modern IIAs contain provisions that address the application of the NT obligation on taxation.

Examples of NT claims in ISDS cases

In ADM^{26} , $Corn\ Products^{27}$ and $Cargill^{28}$, ISDS cases brought under the North American Free Trade Agreement, the imposition in 2002 by Mexico of an excise tax on soft drinks and syrups was found to be a breach of the NT obligations, because the tax only applied to soft drinks and syrups that used any sweetener other than cane sugar; soft drinks and syrups sweetened exclusively with cane sugar were tax exempt. The plaintiffs, US companies, produced and sold high fructose corn syrup, a sweetener that was impacted by the tax. In the three cases, arbitral tribunals held that the imposition of the excise tax was a breach of the NT obligation. In ADM, the Tribunal asserted that the purpose of the tax was protect the domestic Mexican sugar industry from foreign competitors producing alternative sweeteners.

In *Occidental*²⁹ and *EnCana*³⁰, a US and a Canadian company brought cases under, respectively, the 1993 Ecuador-US Bilateral Investment Treaty (since terminated) and the 1996 Canada-Ecuador Bilateral Investment Treaty (since terminated), stating that amendments made between 1999 and 2002 by Ecuador to its VAT law had the effect of denying them the right to obtain VAT credits and refunds on their purchases to which they had been entitled to. In *Occidental*, the tribunal found that the measures had breached the NT obligation, as exporting companies other than oil and gas companies were not denied VAT credits. In *EnCana*, the Tribunal applied the exception found in the IIA's taxation article, which excluded taxation from the scope of the NT obligation and, therefore, found that the measure was not a breach of the agreement.

4.4 Most Favoured Nation (MFN)

- 45. Most favoured nation (MFN) treatment is the non-discrimination standard which bars discrimination among foreign investors and investment of different countries. Thus, under this standard, an investment of a national of a country bound by an IIA with another (host) country, is to be treated in the host country in a manner no less favourable than an investment in the same country of a national of a third country. Like NT, MFN is a relative standard. It has been the cornerstone of the international trading system, in particular of the *General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade* (GATT).
- 46. The MFN standard is intended to prevent measures of a country from discriminating among foreign investors. Under IIAs, however, that provision has been used to seek the benefit of more generous

²⁵ UN (2021). *Model Double Taxation Convention Between Developed and Developing Countries*, New York: UN Publishing, paragraph 1 of the Commentary on Article 24 (Non-Discrimination).

²⁶ Archer Daniels Midland Company v The United Mexican States, Award (21 November 2007), ICSID, Case No ARB(AF)/04/05.

²⁷ Corn Products International, Inc. v. United Mexican States, Award (18 August 2009), ICSID Case No. ARB(AF)/04/1. The award is not public.

²⁸ Cargill, Incorporated v. United Mexican States, Award (18 September 2009), ICSID Case No. ARB(AF)/05/2.

²⁹ Occidental Exploration and Petroleum Company v The Republic of Ecuador, Award (1 July 2004), UNCITRAL, Case No UN-3467.

³⁰ EnCana Corporation v. Republic of Ecuador, Award, (3 February 2006), Case No. UN3481.

procedural provisions of IIAs that the host state has concluded with third states, for example, more beneficial dispute settlement procedures.

- 47. By this logic, the MFN obligation could arguably be invoked by an investor seeking to benefit from an advantage granted by the host country under any of its bilateral DTAs, for example, a lower rate of dividend withholding tax found in a DTA with a third country. This would not be in accordance with the intent of the contracting parties to the IIA, as it would amount to subordinating the operation of DTAs to that of IIAs. For that reason, most IIAs contain an explicit exception to prevent such an outcome.
- 48. The IIA's MFN provision also applies to domestic taxation measures, though in practice to a much lesser extent than is the case of the NT obligation. For example, provisions intended to combat international tax avoidance, such as controlled foreign corporation (CFC) rules, may apply to a subset of countries regarded as attractive destinations to set up subsidiary companies. Distinctions based on whether an investor is or is not from a "blacklisted" country may not be consistent with the MFN obligation.

4.5 Fair and Equitable Treatment (FET)

- 49. The fair and equitable treatment (FET) provision is intended to protect investors against undesirable conduct of the government of the host country that would not be captured by other provisions of IIAs. Unlike the non-discrimination provisions, it sets an absolute standard of conduct, originally intended to guard against abusive treatment or the denial of justice. It has become the most often invoked provision of IIAs in disputes, including in tax-related disputes.
- 50. While the FET provision is intended, and understood, to be an objective standard, it has been given different interpretations by arbitral tribunals, in part because provisions of IIAs are not all similarly written and in part because there exist different views as to its meaning and scope. There are different variations of the core elements of FET in IIAs, but the prevailing view comprises the following elements:
 - (a) Prohibition of manifest arbitrariness in decision-making;
 - (b) Prohibition of the denial of justice and disregard of the fundamental principles of due process;
 - (c) Prohibition of targeted discrimination on manifestly wrongful grounds;
 - (d) Prohibition of abusive treatment of investors, including coercion, duress and harassment;
 - (e) Protection of the legitimate expectations of investors arising from a government's specific representations or investment-inducing measures, although balanced with the host country's right to regulate in the public interest.³¹
- 51. It is the last element of the definition that has most often been invoked in ISDS cases and the interpretation of which gives rise to much uncertainty. Investors will typically claim that a government policy change that affects the profitability of their investment amounts to a breach of the FET obligation because the change has frustrated the legitimate expectations that they held at the time that they decided to invest in the host country. However, there can be a fair degree of subjectivity as regards both the extent to which the profitability of the investment has decreased as a result of the policy change and the extent to which it was reasonable for the investors to expect that government policies that affect them would remain unchanged over the horizon of their investment. For example, in assessing the validity of the investor's "legitimate expectations", a mere assumption on the part of investors that the policy/regulatory environment

_

³¹ UNCTAD (2012). *Fair and Equitable Treatment*, UNCTAD Series on Issues in International Investment Agreements II: A sequel, United Nations, New York and Geneva, at xvi. Available at: http://unctad.org/en/Docs/unctaddiaeia2011d5_en.pdf. This publication provides a detailed discussion of the FET standard.

would remain stable carries less weight than an explicit commitment made by a government to investors with respect to a key policy applicable to them.

- 52. Successive international tribunal decisions with respect to this provision have put into question the ability of countries to legislate in the public interest. The record shows that the applicability of the concept of FET is difficult to predict owing to the exact wording of the provision, the specific facts of the case and, in particular, the analytical framework adopted by an international tribunal.³²
- 53. Certain countries have rejected the notion that the FET obligation protects an investor's legitimate expectation, such as a right to a stable legal environment or reliance on commitments a government may have made. As a result, they have sought to circumscribe the scope of the FET standard in their IIAs by reference to its very limited meaning under customary international law³³. Such countries take the view that this narrow customary international law meaning was, in fact, the meaning that was always intended in IIAs, not the more expansive reading given to it by many international investment tribunals. Arbitral rulings are inconsistent in this respect, even across different ISDS cases spawned by the same government measure.³⁴ On the other hand, arbitral tribunals have recognized in several decisions that, in principle, the FET standard does not prevent countries from exercising their powers to regulate in the public interest.

Examples of FET claims in ISDS cases

In *Occidental*, referred to in subsection 4.3, the Tribunal held that the FET obligation had been breached. The claimant had essentially argued that the denial of VAT refunds had frustrated the company's legitimate expectations regarding the commercial and economic conditions under which the investment was made and the Tribunal agreed, stating that the legal and business environment was changed as a result of the tax change.

In *Vodafone*³⁵, the Indian government demanded payment of \$2.2 billion as capital gains tax, in respect of the capital gains arising from the sale of the share capital of CGP acquired in 2007 by Vodafone from Hutchison group, asserting that since CGP held the underlying Indian assets, it created a tax liability in India in respect of the gains. Vodafone contested the notice before India's High Court, which sided with India's revenue authorities. On appeal, however, the Supreme Court ruled in Vodafone's favour, finding that the transaction, which was executed between non-residents, fell outside India's tax jurisdiction under the statute. In 2012, India's parliament amended the *Income Tax Act 1961*, incorporating therein what was presented as "an explanation of existing law", such that transactions like the one concluded by Vodafone would retrospectively fall within the scope of the Act. The Indian tax authorities reissued a notice requesting payment of the capital gains tax in respect of the transaction. In the same year, Vodafone launched a claim under the 1995 India-Netherlands Bilateral Investment Treaty, alleging a violation of the FET provisions of the treaty.

In *Cairn*³⁶, India imposed in 2015 a tax liability of \$1.6 billion on Cairn India Ltd for its failure to deduct withholding tax on capital gains arising during a restructuring transaction in 2006 in the hands of its parent Cairn UK Holdings Ltd, relying on the 2012 amendment of its income tax laws. Cairn Energy initiated a claim under the 1994 India-United Kingdom Bilateral Investment Treaty, alleging violations of the FET and expropriation provisions of the treaty.

In decisions rendered in 2020, the tribunals in both *Vodafone* and *Cairn* concluded that the imposition of the capital gains tax was a breach of the FET obligation of the respective IIAs. In *Cairn*, the Tribunal was not convinced that the 2012 amendments to the Act were mere "clarification" of the law. It found that the retrospective application of

³² For example, see the analysis of three arbitral decisions found in Castonguay, Alain (2023), *supra* note 20, at Annex 1.

³³ For example, Canada and the United States. See OECD (2017). Gaukrodger, David, Addressing the Balance of Interests in Investment Treaties the Limitation of Fair and Equitable Treatment Provisions to the Minimum Standard of Treatment under Customary International Law, OECD Working Papers on International Investment 2017/03.

³⁴ Reynoso, Isabella, *Spain's Renewable Energy Saga: Lessons for international investment law and sustainable development*, Investment Treaty News, International Institute for Sustainable Development, June 27, 2019.

³⁵ Vodafone International Holdings BV v. Government of India, UNICRAL, Case No. 2016-35.

³⁶ Cairn Energy PLC and Cairn UK Holdings Limited v. The Republic of India, UNICRAL, Case No. 2016-7.

the amendments to prior year transactions disregarded Cairn's expectation of legal certainty, stability and predictability.

Finally, in *Murphy*³⁷, a consortium of foreign companies, one of which was controlled by Murphy, a US company, signed a participation contract with a state-owned company controlled by Ecuador for the purpose of oil exploration and production in the country. Under a participation contract, Consortium members are entitled to a share in the oil produced. After a substantial rise in oil prices between 2002 and 2006, Ecuador adopted Law 42 in April 2006, pursuant to which a 50 percent tax was imposed on the company on "windfall profits," (profits resulting from an "unforeseen" rise of oil prices in excess of the price level at the time of conclusion of the participation contract). In October 2007, the rate was raised to 99 percent by decree.

Murphy launched a complaint under the 1993 Ecuador-US Bilateral Investment Treaty arguing that Law 42 represented a unilateral modification of the participation contract (which ultimately led it to sell its interest in the consortium) and thus, a breach of the FET obligation under the Treaty. Ecuador took the view that, on the other hand, that Law 42 was a "matter of taxation" explicitly carved out from the BIT. The Tribunal rejected Ecuador's argument that Law 42 was a tax measure immune from the application of the FET obligation, on the ground that the "tax" was not enacted under the regular tax law but the Hydrocarbons Law, which governed the conclusion of participation contracts; thus, the measure amounted to a unilateral amendment to the participation contract signed by the consortium. While the Tribunal agreed with the concept of legitimate expectations, it found that Law 42 (50 percent tax) did not breach the FET obligations; however, it held that the decree (raising the rate to 99 percent) did breach Murphy's legitimate expectations.

4.6 Full Protection and Security (FPS)

- 54. IIAs include a provision which requires the contracting parties to accord to investment covered by the agreement "full protection and security" (FSP). It is most commonly found as part of broader provisions setting out the requirement for the parties to provide a "minimum standard of treatment", which typically also includes the FET requirement. Many IIAs clarify that the FPS standard is to be interpreted in accordance with international law or, more explicitly, that it refers only to the physical security of an investor and their investment.
- 55. Older IIAs do not include such interpretation and thus, much like in the case of the FET standard, arbitral tribunals have, in some instances, interpreted the concept to include legal or commercial security. As in the case of the FET obligation, this result can be avoided by clarifying that the concept is to be understood in accordance with international law.

4.7 Expropriation

IIAs set out the parameters within which a country can proceed to a lawful expropriation of property held by a foreign investor: the expropriation must be for a public purpose, carried out in a non-discriminatory manner, under due process of law and against the payment of appropriate compensation. The concept encompasses both the taking of property (direct expropriation) and actions of a government that are the equivalent of a direct expropriation, when they result in the investor being unable to control, manage or use the property, or when it becomes worthless.³⁸

57. Investors have argued in ISDS cases that measures adopted by a country (for example, safety, environmental and labor regulations, financial regulations, and taxation measures) that are alleged to have affected the profitability of their investment amounted to an indirect (and illegal) expropriation. Such

³⁷ Murphy Exploration & Production Company – International v. The Republic of Ecuador (II) (PCA Case No. 2012-16).

³⁸ For a comprehensive discussion of the issue, see UNCTAD (2012). *Expropriation*, UNCTAD Series on Issues in International Investment Agreements II: A sequel. United Nations, New York and Geneva. Available at: https://unctad.org/system/files/official-document/unctaddiaeia2011d7_en.pdf

claims, however, are not necessarily successful before arbitral tribunals, as international law and relevant jurisprudence have established a distinction between measures that constitute indirect expropriation and measures adopted by a country in a non-discriminatory manner in the course of legislating or regulating in the public interest. Nonetheless, it is a common occurrence, when taxation measures are being challenged by investors under other provisions of IIA, that they also be challenged as constituting an indirect expropriation. Taxation measures that have been alleged to constitute an expropriation in ISDS cases include³⁹:

- Non-payment of VAT refunds;
- Initiation of tax investigations/tax audit proceedings;
- Withdrawal of government subsidies;
- Withdrawal of tax-free status;
- Withdrawal of or decision not to grant tax exemptions;
- Increases in windfall profit taxes and royalties;
- Large tax assessments;
- Withholding tax; and
- (Forcible) collection of taxes, customs or other liabilities.

Most expropriation claims made to arbitral tribunals are not successful, because the bar to meet is relatively high: in order to amount to an indirect expropriation, a measure must have a destructive and long-lasting effect on the value of the investment, or must lead to the loss of effective (if not legal) control of the investment, and must be definitive and permanent. In the specific case of taxation, the effect of the taxation measure on the investment must be equivalent to what a direct expropriation measure would have achieved, that is, make the investment worthless. Tribunals tend to recognize that governments have a legitimate right to levy taxation to finance the missions of the state and to change their tax laws for valid policy purposes. A measure that reduces the profitability of the investment while still leaving its control in the hands of investors is generally not found by arbitral tribunals to be the equivalent to an expropriation. ⁴⁰

Examples of expropriation claims in ISDS cases

In *ADM*, *Cargill* and *Corn Syrup*, described earlier, the tribunals rejected the claims that the measure was tantamount to an expropriation. In *ADM*, the Tribunal stressed that the severity of the economic impact must determine whether an indirect expropriation has occurred. The Tribunal held that the measure did not deprive the claimants of fundamental rights of ownership or management of their investment and that the effects of the tax were not of sufficient intensity and duration to produce a significant loss of profitability or an effective loss of the investment.

In *Occidental*, described previously, the Tribunal rejected the allegation that the denial of VAT credits and refunds amounted to an indirect expropriation. It found that the disputed measures did not meet the standards required by international law, in particular the need for the alleged measure to deprive the owner, in whole or in significant part, of the use or expected economic benefit of the investment.

In a claim filed in 2007 under the North American Free Trade Agreement, Marvin and Elaine Gottlieb *et al* ("Gottlieb"), US residents, asserted that changes made in October 2006 by the government of Canada to rules governing the taxation of certain "flow-through entities" had destroyed the value of their investment held in such vehicles. They claimed that the change breached the NT, MFN, FET and expropriation obligations of the agreement. Ultimately, the case never reached the ISDS stage. On its face, the taxation article precluded the application of the first three obligations with respect to an income tax measure. As regards the expropriation claim, the taxation article contained a filter that requires a referral of the claim be made to taxation authorities in order for them to determine whether the disputed measure was not an expropriation. The Canadian and US taxation authorities did reach a joint

-

³⁹ UNCTAD (2021), *supra* note 24, at 31.

⁴⁰ For a discussion of actual cases that illustrate this, see Castonguay, Alain (2023), *supra* note 20 at para. 67ff.

determination under that provision: in an exchange of letters⁴¹ that took place within the allotted six-month period, they agreed that the measure at issue did not constitute an expropriation. Consequently, the expropriation claim was precluded from proceeding to the ISDS stage.

4.8 Transfer of Funds

- 59. The transfer of funds provisions in IIAs are intended to prevent impediments to the free and prompt use by foreign investors of investment and returns on investment, in any form and at any time. Unlike first generation agreements, newer IIAs contain exceptions to this basic requirement, which permit the imposition of certain restrictions to the transfer of funds in certain situations, such as when balance of payment issues arise, or to require compliance with a country's laws dealing with the integrity of the financial system, bankruptcy, securities, criminal offences and, less often, the payment of taxes.
- 60. Such provisions are generally understood not to restrict imposition of taxes, including at the time a payment (be it interest, dividends or royalties) is made to a non-resident person and are seldom invoked by investors.

4.9 Umbrella Provisions

- 61. Investment commitments made by a foreign investor in a host country are often governed by a contract signed between them. Such "investment agreements" often include so-called "stabilization clauses" that commit the country to a stable legislative environment with respect to the specific investment that they cover. Such commitment may extend to guaranteeing stable tax rules for the investor in respect of its investment over a certain period of time.
- 62. A so-called "umbrella provision" included in IIAs stipulates that a contracting party to an IIA is required to observe obligations that it has undertaken with respect to an investment made by an investor of the other contracting party pursuant to an investment agreement. This means that any dispute between an investor and the host country regarding the terms of that agreement, including investor claims that the host country has breached the provision of the stabilization clauses that it may contain, can be addressed under the dispute settlement provisions of the IIA (hence the enforcement of a separate contract comes "under the umbrella" of the IIA).
- 63. Whether stability clauses are desirable or not is beyond the scope of this Report. It should be noted, however, that they can impose a constraint on the ability of the host country to adjust tax policies in response to changing circumstances, in particular where they have been applicable for long periods of time.

4.10 Investor-State Dispute Settlement (ISDS)

64. The ISDS system is a key feature of IIAs. Without it, a dispute arising between an investor and the host country would be addressed by the courts and the judicial system of that country. Instead, under the ISDS, such disputes are examined and adjudicated by an international tribunal formed specifically to that effect, operating under its own rules and composed of arbitrators, the majority of which are usually not nationals of the host country. Under such a system, the investor is solely responsible for deciding to bring claims under the ISDS provisions. The purpose of an ISDS claim is for the investor to seek financial compensation from the government of the host country commensurate with the economic injury alleged to have been suffered by it as a result of the imposition by that country of the disputed measure.

⁴¹ The exchange of letter can be found at: https://www.international.gc.ca/trade-agreements-accords-commerciaux/assets/pdfs/disp-diff/gottlieb-02.pdf.

- 65. An arbitral tribunal is typically comprised of three arbitrators, one chosen by the investor, one chosen by the respondent country and the third selected jointly (or by the two other selected arbitrators), paid by both contracting parties. Arbitration usually takes place under a comprehensive body of rules set out by international agreements: most commonly, the UNCITRAL Arbitration Rules⁴² and the Rules of the International Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes (ICSID), established by the Convention on the Settlement of Investment Disputes between States and Nationals of Other States⁴³.
- 66. The decisions rendered by arbitral tribunals are legally-binding and are final. In exceptional circumstances, an investor that was awarded a financial compensation by an arbitral tribunal can turn to the courts of any country to compel the host country to pay said compensation. 44 Likewise, a country that was ordered by an arbitral tribunal to pay a financial compensation to an investor may seek, in a court of law or pursuant to a special mechanism available under the rules that govern the formation of international tribunals, to invalidate the award, generally on grounds that the IIA was misapplied in that particular case.
- 67. The ISDS process has come under significant criticism from different quarters in recent years. In particular, it has been argued that arbitrators may not have sufficient legitimacy to exercise the power to sanction legislative and regulatory actions taken by the state, given that their frame of analysis tends to focus on the effect of the disputed measure on investors, at the expense of the broader social or economic context that may have justified its adoption. The following is a subset of criticisms expressed about the ISDS process⁴⁵:
 - ISDS opposes the enforcement of private (investor) rights against the right of the state to legislate or regulate in the public interest⁴⁶. This can raise doubt as to the ability of governments to regulate in the area of health, public welfare, the environment, etc. For a country to lose an ISDS case means not only a direct financial impact, but an infringement on its regulatory powers, ultimately forcing it to amend or withdraw the disputed measure.⁴⁷:
 - Benefits and obligations are asymmetrical between states and investors. Substantive obligations of an IIA are a one-way street: countries bear them, but cannot win awards (only their own investors can). Investors have no substantive obligations but stand to win financially;
 - By definition, the ISDS process confers foreign investors substantive and procedural rights that domestic investors do not have, producing an uneven playing field;

⁴² UNICTRAL. *UNCITRAL Arbitration Rules*, General Assembly Resolution 31/98. The rules, adopted in 1976, were developed by the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law (UNCITRAL), a subsidiary body of the General Assembly of the United Nations created in 1966.

⁴³ World Bank Group, *ICSID Convention, Regulations and Rules*, International Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes, Washington, D.C. The Convention, which was developed under the auspices of what is now the World Bank Group, entered into force in 1966.

⁴⁴ An instance of such an occurrence is described in Castonguay, Alain (2023), *supra* note 20, at para. 89ff.

⁴⁵ For example, see Chaisse, Julien (2015), *supra* note 22, Samples, Tim R., *supra* note 18 and UNCTAD (2018). *UNCTAD's Reform Package for the International Investment Regime*, 2018 Edition. United Nations, New York and Geneva. Available at: https://investmentpolicy.unctad.org/publications/1190/unctad-s-reform-package-for-the-international-investment-regime-2018-edition-.

⁴⁶ For example, allegations made in multiple cases against several countries by the tobacco manufacturer Philip Morris against laws that sought to curb tobacco consumption through changes made to cigarette packaging. For example, see *Philip Morris Asia Limited v. The Commonwealth of Australia*, Award (8 March 2017), Case No. 2012-12 and *Philip Morris Brands Sa`rl v. Oriental Republic. of Uruguay*, ICSID Case No. ARB/10/7, Award (July 8, 2016).

⁴⁷ A rebuttal argument can be made that such a narrow frame of analysis would equally be observed in litigation undertaken before a domestic court and that this simply suggests that the IIA is being applied as intended by the parties.

- An arbitral tribunal is not bound by prior decisions made by other tribunals and, except in the exceptional case of a petition for annulment in a court of law, decisions cannot be appealed by states. As a result, decisions are inconsistent across seemingly similar issues, as regards the decision to compensate investors, the reasoning used to arrive at that decision, as well as the manner used to calculate said compensation.
- The confidential nature of the ISDS process is criticized as being secretive and non-transparent. This is in part due to the origin of ISDS procedures, based on how commercial arbitration is conducted between private parties.
- 68. As a result, the impetus for reforms of the ISDS process has grown in recent years and several countries have reacted by curtailing the inclusion of ISDS provisions in their IIAs, if not outright abandoning them altogether. In the latter case, this means that disputes may be addressed by domestic courts or possibly under a state-to-state dispute settlement procedure, although monetary damages would not typically be awarded to investors under such procedures. Current international efforts to revisit the ISDS process are discussed in the next section.
- 69. Tax administrators are generally unfamiliar with ISDS procedures of IIAs as they are not the vehicle employed to address international tax disputes. Most tax disputes between a taxpayer and a revenue authority are addressed by the domestic courts. Where there is taxation not in accordance with the provision of a DTA, the traditional route is to seek relief, when a DTA is applicable, through the process set out therein, the mutual agreement procedure (MAP). The differences between the ISDS process and the MAP are significant.
- 70. Unlike the ISDS process, the MAP is a state-to-state process. Whereas taxpayers can present a case to the domestic tax authorities, the request may not lead to MAP proceedings with the other country that is party to a DTA. First, the tax administration must be satisfied that the request is justified; second, it may be possible for the issue to be resolved unilaterally.⁴⁸ Under the ISDS process, no such discretion exists: arbitration is compulsory once a notice of claims is filed by an investor; the cooling off period prior to the formation of the arbitral tribunal, during which consultation may take place between the investor and the host country, rarely if ever produces a resolution. Another important difference concerns the role of the respective approaches. The goal of the MAP is to alleviate double taxation; in contrast, investors challenge tax measures under IIAs with the view of obtaining a financial compensation for injuries allegedly caused by the imposition of the disputed tax measure. Competent authorities under the MAP have an intimate knowledge of their respective tax systems and of the applicable DTA. Arbitrators under ISDS are not tax experts and may be invited to form a view on intricate tax policy or administration issues.⁴⁹

4.11 Tax Provisions

71. Many IIAs, especially those concluded recently, include comprehensive provisions dealing specifically with taxation, in order to address the issues identified in this section. They are usually found in a dedicated article. A taxation article may address taxation matters both from a substantive and a procedural

⁴⁸ UN (2021), *supra* note 24. The first sentence of paragraph 2 of Article 25 of the UN Model reads: The competent authority shall endeavour, if the objection appears to it to be justified and if it is not itself able to arrive at a satisfactory solution, to resolve the case by mutual agreement with the competent authority of the other Contracting State, with a view to the avoidance of taxation which is not in accordance with this Convention.

⁴⁹ While legally binding arbitration provisions are gradually being integrated in the DTAs of a number of countries, such provisions do not replace or provide an alternative to the MAP. Instead, they are incorporated therein when mutual agreement between the competent authorities cannot be achieved. Arbitration under DTAs is a state-to-state process, in which taxpayers have little role. Arbitrators under a DTA arbitration generally have a significant degree of international tax expertise and have been appointed by the countries themselves.

point of view. Substantive provisions will, for example, remove certain taxation measures from the scope of application of one or more of the key obligations of IIAs (e.g., the national treatment obligation) or will modify the manner in which the obligation applies to taxation (e.g., laying out an interpretation of national treatment similar to that found in DTAs). From a procedural point of view, a taxation article may alter the manner in which the ISDS applies in respect of taxation measures, most often by explicitly granting a role to taxation authorities to decide either substantive issues (for example, is the disputed measure an expropriation) or issues of jurisdictions between the IIA and a DTA in force between IIA parties (for example, whether the DTA and not the IIA should govern the resolution of the dispute).

72. The content of taxation articles is discussed in greater detail in section 6.

5. Tax-relevant Elements of Potential Reforms of International Investment Agreements

- 73. Before turning to the examination of potential approaches for addressing taxation matters under IIAs, it is useful to situate these proposals in its wider context. As mentioned earlier, several aspects of IIAs have been the subject of criticism over the years and much has been written about them and about potential avenues for reform. There currently exists a substantial body of work dedicated to identifying shortcomings with IIAs and proposing changes to a number of their key provisions. Some ideas put forward to that effect would affect how taxation issues are dealt with under IIAs and, thus, might impact details of any proposals intended to address taxation matters.
- 74. The most important work is currently being conducted by UN bodies, UNCTAD⁵⁰ and UNCITRAL⁵¹. Proposals formulated by the former cover the entire range of issues identified with respect to IIAs, whereas the latter exclusively focuses, at the granular level, on all aspects of the ISDS process. The analytical material produced by both is considerable and a complete review of such material is beyond the scope of this Report. Annex 2 briefly describes specific initiatives that have relevance for the issues discussed in this Report.

6. A Framework to Address the Tax Aspects of International Investment Agreements

6.1 Introduction

75. This section presents proposals and offers practical guidance to assist tax policymakers and administrators (collectively referred to herein as "tax officials") wishing to build capacity to exercise greater control over the treatment of taxation matters in their country's network of IIAs, in order to better manage the issues and risks identified in this Report. The guidance may also be beneficial to investment policymakers and negotiators ("investment officials") wishing to better understand the concerns and needs of tax officials and why they have an important role to play in the formulation and implementation of the country's policy toward IIAs. Capacity building, in this context, requires from tax officials that they develop specialized knowledge about the particulars of IIAs and the potential impact that they may have on tax policy and administration, and that they become familiar with the intra-governmental process by which they can integrate into the workstream led by investment officials, the cooperation of which is essential for the framework to meet its objectives.

⁵⁰ The United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD), an intergovernmental body established by the United Nations General Assembly in 1964, is the UN's leading institution dealing with trade and development, with the mandate to support developing countries to access the benefits of a globalized economy more fairly and effectively.

⁵¹ The United Nations Commission on International Trade Law (UNCITRAL), a subsidiary body of the General Assembly of the United Nations established in 1966, is mandated to further the progressive harmonization and unification of the law of international trade. It has produced several conventions, model laws and other instruments.

6.2 Importance of Developing a Framework

6.2.1 Why a Framework is Necessary

- 76. Previous sections of this Report have detailed the implications of IIAs for a country's ability to legislate and regulate for a public purpose, with a particular focus on taxation. Tax officials of countries that have entered into a sizable number of IIAs cannot simply ignore the issue or minimize its importance; they must gain awareness of the issue. Having done so, they may wish to know what concrete steps they must pursue to ameliorate the situation, in particular: how to formulate their concerns within their government; how the wording of IIAs may ideally be revised to take such concerns into account; and how to go about incorporating such language into their country's IIAs (which are negotiated by their government but which are not within their direct purview). For tax officials who have never been involved in such an endeavor, the task may at first appear to be considerable, in particular if their office already functions within significant resource constraints.
- 77. Implementing an efficient strategy to address taxation issues in IIAs requires early acceptance of an incontrovertible requirement: any involvement of tax officials in this area requires the allocation of adequate financial and human resources for that purpose by the government department responsible for tax policy ("tax department"). In considering whether and to what extent to do so, the tax department must be mindful that the cost associated with such an effort must be compared with the potential cost of inaction as well as the expected benefits of achieving the right balance within their country's IIAs. Better calibrating the content of IIAs as they apply to taxation matters brings benefits in terms of protecting the country's ability to make tax policy choices and limiting the potential financial costs and risks associated with IIA litigation. It would serve little purpose for a government to formulate elaborate tax policies designed to achieve important economic and social goals if the attainment of some of them may be at risk of being undermined because they are vulnerable to challenges by foreign investors under IIAs.
- 78. Achieving the right balance in IIAs with respect to treatment of taxation should also be an objective of investment officials, since preserving tax policy space can be achieved without undermining the basic objective of IIAs of making the country attractive to foreign investors. Such an outcome, however, can only be accomplished through a continuous cooperative effort between tax and investment officials. Indeed, tax officials can bring important value added for purposes of strengthening the integrity of IIAs, for example in the area of the abuse of IIAs by investors of third countries (so called, treaty-shopping), a topic which is very familiar to international tax officials and for which solutions have been developed both at the country level and in a multilateral context.⁵²

6.2.2 How to Develop a Framework: Consider a Whole-of-Government Approach

79. A "whole-of-government" approach means public service agencies working together across organisational portfolio boundaries in a shared response to particular issues.⁵³ While governments are usually organized around a number of departments each tasked with the development and/or implementation of specific policies within defined areas of responsibility, the handling of certain policy issues can span across two or more departments. When working in silos, departments may not be able to implement a cohesive government response to a particular policy challenge. A whole-of-government

⁵² Supra note 23.

⁵³ United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, *E-government for policy integration* (United Nations E-Government Survey 2016), 2017, https://publicadministration.un.org/egovkb/Portals/egovkb/Documents/un/2016-Survey/Chapter%201.pdf at para 1.1.

approach seeks to remedy this problem by ensuring that departments coordinate their efforts in the pursuit of achieving a given government-wide objective.

- 80. Much has been written about the benefits associated with, and challenges in implementing, a whole-of-government approach as well as about the actual implementation of such an approach in specific policy fields by various governments⁵⁴. In a complex area such as the relationship of tax and investment rights and obligations, some of the benefits of the approach are that:
 - It promotes coherence of approach and certainty for administrators and taxpayers/investors;
 - It recognises the integrated nature in the modern world of policy development, legislation, and provision of services, and reduces fragmentated responses by linking up the analysis and responses of different offices;
 - It encourages broader perspectives, such as sustainable development approaches in an interdependent world, so that policy responses and administration can best meet desired wider goals;
 - It makes the best use of government capacity, and can help identify inefficiencies and better target resources;
 - It makes it easier to provide a "one-stop-shop" for provision of services and advice, reducing inefficiencies and uncertainties and enhancing competitiveness as a destination;
 - It decreases the risk profile and can, through sharing information and experience, serve as an early warning and response system to emerging issues, such as potential disputes or more systemic problems with treaty obligations.
- 81. The elements of an effective whole-of-government approach include:⁵⁵
 - *structures*, such as interdepartmental committees or taskforces meeting regularly, with clear agendas and reports;
 - work processes, including accountability systems that centralize the importance of whole of
 government effectiveness, information sharing (including the IT aspects) and joint problem
 solving.
 - *political and administrative leadership*, in terms of giving the necessary political support but at both the political and administrative level putting a premium on building and sustaining relationships, managing complexity and interdependence, and managing multiple and conflicting accountabilities;

_

⁵⁴ For example, see, Colgan, A., Kennedy, L.A. and Doherty, N. (2014) A Primer on implementing whole of Effective government approaches. Dublin: Centre for Services, 3. Available https://effectiveservices.notion.site/Primer-on-Implementing-Whole-of-Government-Approaches-4e6166a521ec43f0a16c7b5fb5ed0a2a; see also Australian National Audit Office, Audit Report No.41 2009-10, Agreements, Commonwealth of Cross-Agency Australia, 2010. Available https://www.anao.gov.au/sites/default/files/ANAO Report 2009-2010_41.pdf?acsf_files_redirect#:~:text=Key%20requirements%20for%20cross%2Dagency,communication%20arr

angements%3B%20considering%20risks%2C%20and; James Johnson, "Don't break your silos down – master them" (2020) https://services.blog.gov.uk/2020/01/16/dont-break-your-silos-down-master-them/; Sabina Nawaz, "7 Strategies to Break Down Silos in Big Meetings" (2021) https://hbr.org/2021/07/7-strategies-to-break-down-silos-in-big-meetings; Samuel Danaa (UNDESA) "Introduction to the Whole-of-Government Approach" (2023 - powerpoints).

⁵⁵ Colgan, Kennedy, and Doherty, *supra* note 53 at p. 26ff.

- *culture and capacities* this includes developing a culture within the department/ organizational unit that encourages the qualities needed by the personnel operating in an inter-organizational setting, including: cultivation of productive and professional relationships, communication skills, political skills and an appreciation of the interdependencies involved in understanding and solving complex problems. A capacity to see the problem from the perspective of other stakeholders is key. Other capacities include an awareness of the risks and challenges, but also the opportunities of working across horizontal and vertical boundaries, with multiple and potentially conflicting accountabilities. An ability to influence developments is important.
- 82. A critical part of a whole-of-government approach is that it involves improving inter-departmental networks within governments, such as between tax agencies and investment ministries, as well as between tax policymakers and tax administrators. Since IIAs may also impact administrative guidance and practice, revenue agencies must be aware of the implications of IIA provisions on their practices and decisions (see paragraph 57 for examples of measures that have triggered a dispute in the past). To achieve this, intradepartmental networks within, for example, the revenue agency may also need to be improved, so that a single person or team has the information, skills and authority, to speak effectively for the agency in dealings with other departments. Effective intra and inter-departmental networks will also help in engaging on these issues with other countries in the international arena.
- 83. As the next section will set out, the implementation of this integrated approach is not intended to be a process that is finite in time. Once a cooperative process has been established between tax and investment officials, it does not end with an agreement between them on the terms of provisions relating to taxation for inclusion in the country's IIAs. To the same extent that the process of negotiation, ratification and implementation of new IIAs and the management of litigation arising under the country's IIAs is an on-going endeavor for investment officials, so should the cooperative process between officials at each stage (including at the litigation stage, where it concerns a taxation measure).

6.3 Developing and Implementing a Framework

6.3.1 Integrating with the Government's Investment Team as Part of a Whole-of-Government Approach

- 84. While tax officials are responsible for matters relating to tax policy and administration, ensuring that their concerns and preferences are reflected in the content of their country's IIAs necessarily implies the cooperation and participation of investment officials. The latter are responsible for the country's policy on investment and for the negotiation of IIAs and the treatment of taxation is one among many issues that need to be addressed in determining the content of such agreements.
- 85. Indeed, investment officials usually have the primary responsibility for the development and implementation of the country's investment policy and the content of IIAs. They respond to the minister responsible for the country's investment policies, the parameters of which determine in large part to what extent the country is attractive to foreign investment. On the other hand, investment officials do not have particular expertise in all areas covered by an IIA and, in particular, in the tax area. This may create a tension between two objectives: the need for investment officials to account for concerns expressed by tax officials, and the natural tendency to be protective of what they regard as their exclusive area of responsibility.
- 86. On the other hand, tax officials respond to the minister responsible for the country's tax and fiscal policies. The power to tax is a pillar of a country's sovereignty and, thus, tax policy and tax collection are critical functions of the state, as they determine how much revenue accrues to the government to finance its several social and economic missions, and how such revenue is collected. To the extent that the country's

investment policy can affect what is exclusively their area of responsibility, tax officials can legitimately claim a role in the design of investment policies that affect their core mandate. Since IIAs can impact on the efficacy of tax policy, it is important that their concerns regarding the preservation of policy flexibility be heard and taken into account by investment officials.

- 87. Because of the existence of such an overlap and a tension between tax and investment policy, it is in the best interest of the government to acknowledge its existence and to manage it in a manner that benefits both policies. If one accepts this premise, it follows that tax officials must form an integral part of all the decisions that affect their policy area and that they must be prepared to participate in all the steps associated with IIAs; likewise, investment officials must be amenable to including tax officials in their decision-making process. This is obviously the case at the initial stage, when a tax article needs to be designed. But it does not stop at that stage. Tax officials must also be involved in the negotiation of the tax article when investment officials conduct bilateral IIA negotiations. They must also be aware of emerging litigation brought about by foreign investors when the disputed measure is a taxation measure, and work together with investment officials in the preparation of a defense to be presented at the arbitral tribunal. The following subsections address each stage in turn.
- 88. As mentioned at the outset, from an organizational perspective, the department responsible for tax policy must be prepared to allocate adequate financial and human resources for it to fulfil this mandate. This department must develop its own expertise in this area to be able to play a constructive role as part of the team responsible for IIAs. Tax officials assigned to this role must be given an explicit mandate from their department. When clearly formulated and communicated at senior departmental levels (including between senior officials in tax and investment departments), such a mandate represents both a clarity of purpose for tax officials and a source of strength and legitimacy for them when interacting with their investment colleagues. This establishes the basis of their inter-departmental cooperation in this area. Even at that early stage, cooperation at the working level must be established between the respective departments, as tax officials will require the support of investment officials to develop the expertise that they must necessarily acquire with respect to investment policy and IIAs. At some point in this process, tax officials will be able to commence work on the first step towards the development of a framework: developing a taxation article.

6.3.2 Developing a Substantive Position on the Treatment of Taxation

- 89. The development of a substantive position on the treatment of taxes in IIAs will determine to what extent obligations of IIAs apply in respect of taxation measures. One of the first decisions in this respect concerns the choice of the approach to be adopted in the design of the taxation article. The preliminary tendency of tax officials concerned with preserving their ability to develop and implement tax policy may be to consider the outright exclusion of taxation matters from the scope of IIAs. It is indeed a simple approach, from a design point of view, that ensures the complete preservation of the country's tax policy space. However, it comes with its own issues and is very likely to be opposed by investment officials concerned with preserving the attractiveness of the country as a foreign investment destination. Thus, what may be perceived at the outset as the preferred approach from the sole point of view of tax officials may not be the one that, in the end, will be mutually acceptable under a whole-of-government approach.
- 90. The design and content of a tax article is for each country to determine and, thus, this Report does not put forth specific recommendations in this regard. A recent report⁵⁶ offered a detailed analysis of how and to what extent key obligations of an IIA may apply to taxation measures. This report analyzed a number of tax provisions found in existing IIAs, particularly recent ones, and suggested that they can be grouped into three broad categories: articles that favour the targeted exclusion of taxation measures, articles that

_

⁵⁶ Castonguay, Alain (2023), *supra* note 20, at para 129 ff.

achieve the broad exclusion of taxation measures and, finally, articles that provide for the complete or near complete exclusion of taxation measures from the scope of IIAs. Annex 3 provides a summary of the features of each category, together with their pros and cons.

- 91. In summary, a tax article may include two types of provisions. The first type includes provisions limiting the extent to which certain IIA obligations apply to taxation measures. The second type are procedural in nature (usually referred to as "filters", as alluded to previously) and typically impose an additional step prior to the commencement of the ISDS process, which require tax officials of both contracting parties to the IIA to make a determination about the application of certain obligations of the IIA to taxation measures. An example of the first type of provisions might be to provide that the national treatment obligation does not apply with respect to income tax measures. An example of the latter type might be to require tax officials of both contracting parties to determine if a disputed taxation measure does not amount to an expropriation and that, if they so determine, the matter cannot be examined at the ISDS level.
- 92. Consistent with the whole-of-government approach discussed in the earlier subsection, it will be necessary, in crafting a taxation article, to reconcile the point of view and objectives of tax officials with those of investment officials. It is quite possible that this will require a period of negotiation between the respective departments. In the end, it will often be the case that the agreed-upon content of the tax article will necessarily reflect compromises made by each side.

6.3.3 Participating in IIA Negotiations

- 93. While investment negotiators entrusted with a detailed mandate from their tax counterpart might be capable of negotiating the terms of the taxation article, experience has shown that this is neither ideal nor often effective. The advisable course of action is for tax officials to be at the negotiating table as active participants when the tax provision is being negotiated.
- 94. In practice, negotiating the tax provisions of IIAs is much more about the intricacies of taxation laws than the particular of investment policy. Usually, it will be necessary to explain the basis for carving-out certain taxation measures from certain obligations of the IIA and to illustrate the position with the help of concrete examples. This necessarily requires an intimate knowledge of the measures in question and of tax policy. Where the negotiations solely involve investment officials, the iterative process inherent in all negotiations may be drawn-out, as officials may be unable to answer specific questions and may not have the mandate to edit language at the negotiating table, requiring them to consult tax officials in preparation for the subsequent negotiating round. This sub-optimal process also runs the risk that taxation matters be one of the last issues to be resolved, which may put undue pressure on tax officials to reach a compromise.
- 95. Ideally, tax issues should be discussed early in the negotiating process, which will help ensure that the relevant tax officials are identified at an early stage. Moreover, tax officials will typically be able to answer technical tax questions and will have some flexibility to adjust the language in order to move toward an acceptable compromise position. Consequently, the optimal arrangement to address taxation is when both parties can count on tax officials to carry out the negotiation of tax provisions. It is understood that where tax officials are given the lead for this purpose, they must nonetheless operate within certain parameters set by, and under the supervision of, senior investment negotiators.
- 96. There are of course costs (opportunity cost for officials and financial costs for the tax department) associated with sending tax officials abroad for IIA negotiations, especially if several IIA negotiations are on-going at once. Admittedly, resource constraints may raise a genuine issue for small and developing countries. Realistically, it is important for such costs to be factored in the initial decision made by the relevant tax department to assign resources to this issue. The emerging ease associated with the use of tele-

conference facilities can contribute to the mitigation of such costs and, in practice, it is common for the tax article to be negotiated virtually to facilitate the involvement of the relevant tax officials. An IIA negotiation often involves several rounds on a wide variety of issues and it may be difficult to justify the cost of travel for tax officials who are only involved in one part of the agreement.

- 97. Once the negotiation of an IIA with a country is completed, it must be signed and ratified by each party. Tax officials may be required to assist, as required by the particular system in place, to help in the process leading to the signature and the ratification of the IIA.
- 98. A model tax article will be used for the negotiation of new IIAs. But it will most certainly be the case that the country is bound by existing IIAs negotiated prior to the development of the current model tax article, the tax provisions of which may diverge, perhaps significantly, from the new model. In this case, it will be advisable for tax officials to identify which IIAs present the most important vulnerability in their treatment of taxation, for purposes of establishing, in concert with investment officials, which IIAs should be given priority for renegotiation.

6.3.4 Participating in IIA Litigation

- 99. Once in force, IIAs may be used by a foreign investor to file a complaint (i) alleging that a given measure of the host country is not in accordance with the provisions of the IIA and has caused it a financial prejudice and (ii) seeking a financial compensation under the ISDS process. As was seen earlier, this may encompass a taxation measure.
- 100. Irrespective of the nature of the protection that the taxation article of the relevant IIA may confer on the disputed taxation measure, investor allegations almost invariably trigger the formation of an arbitral tribunal under the agreement's ISDS provisions. This means that the respondent country must mount a defense of the disputed measure before the arbitral tribunal.
- 101. Under a whole-of-government approach, tax officials must be informed promptly by investment officials of the existence of a challenge against a taxation measure by a foreign investor. While tax officials may themselves monitor on an ongoing basis the filing of IIA cases against their country, the primary responsibility for such a task rests with either the department responsible for investment policy and/or the department responsible for the management of IIA litigation (e.g., the department of justice) and, therefore, it will be incumbent upon them to ensure that tax officials are informed in real time as investor allegations are formally filed. Similarly, tax officials would benefit from becoming aware on a timely basis of litigation instigated by investors of their country, when it concerns a taxation measure. This would particularly be relevant should tax officials' direct involvement be necessary under a filter mechanism found in the tax article. Should this occur, tax officials may find it useful to communicate with the claimant to better understand the facts that gave rise to the claim and impart confidence that tax officials understand, and are actively engaged in, the process.
- 102. To the same extent that tax expertise is required in the course of negotiating the tax aspects of IIAs, tax expertise will be essential in the defense of taxation measures being challenged under an IIA. The substantive defense of a tax measure will, depending on the nature of the allegation and the content of the tax article, take two alternative routes: one will be to argue that the measure is not a violation of the obligations of the IIA identified by the investor. The other will be to argue that, irrespective of whether or not the measure constitute such a violation, the measure does not offend the IIA read as a whole because the disputed measure is protected by a provision of the tax article. For example, a measure that may arguably be discriminatory, according to the investor, may nonetheless be consistent with the agreement because, say, the tax article prevents the national treatment provision from being invoked in respect of that particular measure.

- 103. From an organizational point of view, investment officials and/or department of justice officials will have the primary responsibility for the preparation of a defense to be presented to an arbitral tribunal. Tax officials should be invited to provide a supporting role in the preparation of a responsive position in respect of taxation measures targeted by the complaint and, therefore, this will require close cooperation between the respective departments. Tax experts are usually not involved in the actual proceedings of arbitral tribunals, but both sides in the dispute are given opportunity to set out their position in detailed written briefs. Tax officials may also be in a position to offer views at the outset on the choice of the arbitrator to be selected by the respondent country (the investor and the respondent typically nominate one panelist each on the tribunal) and, where appropriate, the participation of expert witnesses.
- 104. Beyond a substantive defense based on merits, the taxation article may also explicitly require that tax experts be formally involved in the examination of the allegation made by the investor. As discussed earlier, a number of taxation articles found in more recent IIAs contain provisions that gives tax experts of the respective contracting parties the opportunity to reach a joint decision with respect to a specific issue set out in the article. As mentioned earlier, the most prevalent example is where an investor alleges that at taxation measure is tantamount to an expropriation. The tax article may contain a provision such as the following⁵⁷:
 - 8. Article 9.8 (Expropriation and Compensation) shall apply to taxation measures. However, no investor may invoke Article 9.8 (Expropriation and Compensation) as the basis for a claim if it has been determined pursuant to this paragraph that the measure is not an expropriation. An investor that seeks to invoke Article 9.8 (Expropriation and Compensation) with respect to a taxation measure must first refer to the designated authorities of the Party of the investor and the respondent Party, at the time that it gives its notice of intent under Article 9.19 (Submission of a Claim to Arbitration), the issue of whether that taxation measure is not an expropriation. If the designated authorities do not agree to consider the issue or, having agreed to consider it, fail to agree that the measure is not an expropriation within a period of six months of the referral, the investor may submit its claim to arbitration under Article 9.19 (Submission of a Claim to Arbitration).
- 105. In such cases, the involvement of tax authorities is thus a statutory requirement of the provision. Tax authorities are usually given a time period (e.g., 6 months) to come to a determination that the disputed taxation measure is not, contrary to what is being alleged by the investor, an expropriation. When both tax authorities arrive at such a determination, it precludes the issue from being examined by the arbitral tribunal. Such a "filter" relies on the unique expertise of tax officials and can be useful to discard manifestly frivolous expropriation claims, with respect to taxation measures that both contracting parties regard as legitimate. Other issues that may arise under the IIA which can benefit from tax expertise can also be decided under similar mechanisms. As mentioned in paragraph 97, tax officials of the country of the claimant may find it useful to gain a better understanding of the facts of the case by communicating with the claimant prior to a final determination.
- 106. After the conclusion of ISDS proceedings, it will also be advisable (and sometimes necessary) for tax experts to participate in any post-mortem of the case that may be conducted within the government, especially if a tribunal's decision has had a direct impact on the disputed taxation measure. This may inform the future formulation of tax policy or possible amendments to the country's model IIA.

7. Conclusions

107. This Report is intended to convey two important messages to officials responsible for tax policy:

⁵⁷ Paragraph 8 of Article 29.4 of the *Comprehensive and Progressive Agreement for Trans-Pacific Partnership*, signed on March 8, 2018, and entered into force on December 30, 2018, in the first six countries to have ratified the agreement: Canada, Australia, Japan, Mexico, New Zealand, and Singapore.

- (i) the need to be aware of the potential impacts of IIAs, entered into by their country, on taxation measures and the development and implementation of tax policy, and
- (ii) the ability for them to be proactive in addressing their concerns, by becoming participants in the development and implementation of their country's investment policy as it relates to taxation, including the negotiation of IIAs.
- 108. Tax officials ignore IIAs at the peril of their country's tax policy and investment officials ignore the importance of tax expertise at the peril of their country's investment policy. IIAs intended to make their country an attractive destination for foreign investment need not do so at the expense of posing an unknown risk to existing taxation measures or the future development and implementation of tax policy. This Report shows that a number of countries have achieved a satisfactory balance between both goals through the crafting of tax provisions that both reduce risks and allow tax officials, through filters, to participate in the mitigation of some of them. This Report does not prescribe a preferred tax provision for inclusion in IIAs, but presents a range of possible approaches among which tax and investment officials can, in a cooperative process, design a set of tax provisions that reflect their policy preferences.
- 109. For tax officials to be proactive within a wider government process requires two essential ingredients. First, a long-term commitment on the part of the tax department's leadership to develop inhouse expertise in the IIA field, and to participate in all aspects of the country IIA policy, which necessarily requires the allocation of proper human and financial resources dedicated for that purpose. Second, the implementation of a cooperative relationship between tax officials and investment officials in the context of a whole-of-government approach.
- 110. The latter also requires a commitment on the part of investment officials to accept that tax officials have a role to play in the design of solutions to address their concerns. They must be prepared to assist tax officials in the development of their competence in the area of IIAs, to work with them in the design of a taxation article and to involve them in the negotiation of IIAs and the management of disputes that concern taxation measures.
- 111. The commitment that tax officials must make in this process is necessarily a long-term one. While the initial stage of the process, leading to the drafting of a taxation article for inclusion in the country's IIAs is a critical one, it should not be the end of the process. Tax officials should be prepared to participate in the negotiation of the tax aspects of IIAs with other countries. Likewise, investment officials should welcome the participation of those who hold expertise in the tax area, as this can only enhance both the efficacy of the process of negotiation and the quality of the ultimate outcome of such negotiation.
- 112. In addition, tax expertise may be called upon in the event that an investor of another contracting party challenges a taxation measure. Tax officials can be expected to provide critical insight into the purpose and operation of the disputed measure, for purposes of preparing a comprehensive defense before an international arbitral tribunal. When the taxation article contains so-called "filters" pursuant to which the consideration of certain issues is delegated to designated taxation authorities, tax officials can also play a direct and mandated role in the process leading to whether the said issues will ultimately be decided by an international tribunal.

Annex 1

List of publications addressing the use and effectiveness of tax incentives, as well as on-going OECD work

Addis Tax Initiative (2022). *Regional Workshop on Tax Expenditures. Workshop Report*. Lagos. Available at: https://www.taxcompact.net/sites/default/files/resources/Report-ATI%20Regional%20Workshop%20%28En%29.pdf

González Cabral, Ana Cinta; Appelt, Silvia; Galindo Rueda, Fernando; Hanappi, Tibor; and O'Reilly, Pierce (2023). *Design features of income-based tax incentives for R&D and innovation. OECD Taxation Working Papers No. 60.* Paris. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1787/a5346119-en.

González Cabral, Ana Cinta; Appelt, Silvia; Galindo Rueda, Fernando; Hanappi, Tibor; and O'Reilly, Pierce (2023). *Effective tax rates for R&D intangibles*. *OECD Taxation Working Papers No.* 63. Paris. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1787/191dad43-en.

IMF (2023). *International Corporate Tax Reform*. Washington, D.C. Available at: https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/Policy-Papers/Issues/2023/02/06/International-Corporate-Tax-Reform-529240.

James, Sebastian (2013). Effectiveness of Tax and Non-Tax Incentives and Investments: Evidence and Policy Implications. Available at:

 $https://ssrn.com/abstract = 2401905 \ or \ http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2401905.$

James, Sebastian and Van Parys, Stefan (2010). *The Effectiveness of Tax Incentives in Attracting FDI: Evidence from the Tourism Sector in the Caribbean*. University of Gent Working Paper series 2010/675. Available at: https://wps-feb.ugent.be/Papers/wp_10_675.pdf.

Mbuyamba, Frankie (2022). *Tax Incentives from Corporate Income Taxes in Africa*. Slideshow. ATAF. Available at:

 $https://www.addistaxinitiative.net/sites/default/files/resources/Session \% 202_Mbuyamba \% 20\% 5BATAF \% 5D.pdf.$

McIntyre, Meredith (2017). *Tax Incentives: To Use or Not to Use?* In Alleyne, T., Ötker, I., Ramakrishnan, U. and Srinivasan, K. (Eds.) *Unleashing Growth and Strengthening Resilience in the Caribbean.* IMF. Washington, D.C. Available at: https://cdi.mecon.gob.ar/bases/docelec/az3995.pdf.

OECD (2022). *Tax Incentives and the Global Minimum Corporate Tax: Reconsidering Tax Incentives after the GloBE Rules*. Paris. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1787/25d30b96-en.

OECD, ECLAC, CAF (2023). *Latin American Economic Outlook 2023: Investing in Sustainable Development*. Paris. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1787/8c93ff6e-en.

Platform for Collaboration on Tax, World Bank Group (2015). *Options for low income countries' effective and efficient use of tax incentives for investment: tools for the assessment of tax incentives.* Washington, D.C. Available at: https://documents.worldbank.org/en/publication/documents-

reports/documentdetail/983001468000901391/options-for-low-income-countries-effective-and-efficient-use-of-tax-incentives-for-investment-tools-for-the-assessment-of-tax-incentives.

UN, CIAT (2018). *Design and Assessment of Tax Incentives in Developing Countries*. New York. Available at: https://www.un.org/esa/ffd/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/tax-incentives_eng.pdf.

UNCTAD (2000). *Tax Incentives and Foreign Direct Investment: A Global Survey*. New York and Geneva. Available at: https://unctad.org/system/files/official-document/iteipcmisc3_en.pdf.

UNDESA (2015). *United Nations Handbook on Selected Issues in Protecting the Tax Base of Developing Countries*. Chapter 10: *Tax Incentives*. New York. Available at: https://www.un.org/esa/ffd/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/handbook-tb.pdf.

UNECA, ATAF (2024). A Framework for Assessing and Reporting Tax Expenditures in Africa. Addis Ababa. Available at:

https://repository.uneca.org/bitstream/handle/10855/50021/b12040423.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y.

World Bank Group (2020). *Evaluating the Costs and Benefits of Corporate Tax Incentives*. Washington, D.C. Available at:

https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/180341583476704729/pdf/Evaluating-the-Costs-and-Benefits-of-Corporate-Tax-Incentives-Methodological-Approaches-and-Policy-Considerations.pdf.

Annex 2

Summary of Current Work at UNCTAD and UNCITRAL

1. UNCTAD

- 1. UNCTAD has produced detailed analysis and formulated options for reforms of the international investment system in a report (hereafter "WIR2015") issued in 2015⁵⁸. Of particular relevance for this Report, this was followed in 2020⁵⁹ by another publication that examined, in substantial detail, the same issues from the point of view of taxation, for the benefit of tax policymakers.
- 2. The essence of the recommendations put forward by UNCTAD are succinctly summarized in two tables found in WIR2015, which are reproduced at the end for this section. Of interest, among the objectives for reforms identified, are the following:
 - Safeguarding the right to regulate, in recognition of the fact that IIAs place limits on the ability of countries to pursue domestic policy goals and that countries need to be able to regulate for the public interest, citing areas such as the protection of the environment, public health, as well as economic and financial policies; this has relevance for taxation.
 - Reforming investment dispute settlement, in light of the "legitimacy crisis" faced by the ISDS system arising from the many criticisms levelled against it.
- 3. WIR2015 identified the possible elements of reforms that might fulfil the above objectives. Of interest for this Report are the following:
 - As regards the objective of safeguarding the right to regulate, one approach would be to better
 circumscribe key IIA obligations, such as the FET standard, indirect expropriation and MFN and
 include exceptions for, among others, public policies. Alternatively, a more ambitious approach
 would allow for the outright omission of key provisions (FET and MFN obligations, umbrella
 clause, ISDS provisions) from IIAs;
 - As regards ISDS reforms, options would include three alternatives: (i) improving the existing ISDS process (improving transparency, limiting investors' access, enhancing the contracting parties' control and introducing local litigation); (ii) adding elements to the existing process (e.g., alternative dispute resolution approaches, introducing an appeals facility); and (iii) simply replacing the existing ISDS system with another mechanism (e.g., creating a permanent international investment court, or rely on state-to state dispute settlement).
- 4. While a detailed analysis of the above is beyond the scope of this Report, it is worth spelling out in more detail some of them. In order to address the open-ended and undefined nature of the FET obligations, options for reforms would include (i) to qualify the FET standard by reference to the minimum standard of treatment under customary international law; (ii) clarify the FET standard with an open-ended list of specific obligations, containing either what is included or what is excluded in its definition (under this approach, the concept of legitimate expectation would not be listed as a component of FET); (iii) replace the FET obligation with a list of well-defined obligations.

-

⁵⁸ WIR15, *supra* note 6.

⁵⁹ UNCTAD (2021), *supra* note 24.

- 5. In order to address the issues arising when investors rely on the provisions on indirect expropriation to challenge laws or regulations of general application that affect negatively on the profitability of their investment, options for reforms would include: (i) limit the scope of the indirect expropriation provisions by defining criteria that must be present for a measure to constitute an indirect expropriation; (ii) define which measures do not constitute indirect expropriation (e.g., non-discriminatory, good faith regulations relating to public policy objectives) and affirm that a measure's adverse effect on the economic value of the investment is not sufficient to establish an indirect expropriation: and (iii) simply exclude indirect expropriation from the scope of IIAs.
- 6. Options are considered to address the issue of treaty shopping, whereby investors from a country can access the benefits of IIAs signed between two other countries: (i) supplement the definition of "investors" to require that substantial business activities be conducted in the host state; and (ii) include a "denial of benefits" provision to deny the benefits of IIAs to companies with little or no substantial business activities. In addition, the Guide mentions the possibility of excluding portfolio investment, including short term and speculative investments.
- 7. Finally, leaving aside the several proposals addressing dispute settlement reform (addressed in the next subsection), one idea is of particular relevance to this Report, which is reproduced in full (emphasis is ours)⁶⁰:
 - 3. Using filters for channelling sensitive cases to State-State dispute settlement

This reform option provides for State-State dispute settlement if a joint committee fails to resolve a case. While maintaining the overall structure of today's ISDS mechanism, this constitutes a "renvoi" of disputes on sensitive issues to State-State dispute settlement; e.g. whether a measure is a "prudential" measure aimed at safeguarding the integrity and stability of the financial system or **whether a taxation measure constitutes an expropriation**. In this case, the ISDS proceeding is suspended until the State-to-State tribunal renders its decision. The latter is binding on the ISDS tribunal. This approach has been adopted in the BIT concluded between Canada and China in 2012 and in NAFTA (for investment disputes in financial services). The "filter" was evoked by the European Commission in its Public Consultation on the TTIP.

State-State dispute settlement (be it in the form of arbitration, judicial or other procedures) may be better suited for sensitive issues of systemic importance, such as those relating to the integrity and stability of the financial system, **the global system of international tax relations**, or public health. For example, States are likely to use only those legal arguments with which they would feel comfortable in cases directed against them.

8. The detailed options for reform laid out in WIR15 are summarized in two tables found in that report, which are reproduced in the following pages. Table IV.3. sets out the objectives of the proposed reforms and the specific elements of IIAs with respect to which changes could be considered, while Table IV.4. suggests various means (e.g., adding or omitting provisions, etc.) by which changes could be implemented.⁶¹

-

⁶⁰ WIR15, *supra* note 6, at 149.

⁶¹ WIR15, *supra* note 6, at 133 and 134.

Table IV.3. Objectives and areas for IIA reform	
Reform objectives	Reform areas
Safeguarding the right to regulate	Circumscribed (clearly defined) IIA standards of protection Fair and equitable treatment Indirect expropriation MFN "Safety valves"; e.g. exceptions for Public policies National security Balance-of-payments crises
Reforming investment dispute settlement	 Clauses that Fix the existing ISDS mechanism by improving transparency, limiting investors' access, enhancing the contracting parties' control and introducing local litigation requirements Add new elements to the existing ISDS mechanism (e.g. building in effective alternative methods of dispute resolution, introducing an appeals facility) Replace the existing ISDS mechanism (e.g. by creating a standing international investment court, reliance on State-State dispute settlement and/or reliance on domestic dispute resolution)
3. Promoting and facilitating investment	Clauses that Strengthen promotion measures (inward and outward) Target promotion measures to sustainable development Foster cooperation in this regard
Ensuring responsible investment	Clauses that Prevent the lowering of environmental or social standards Ensure compliance with domestic laws Strengthen corporate social responsibility (CSR) and foster cooperation in this regard
5. Enhancing systemic consistency	Clauses and mechanisms that manage interaction between IlAs and other bodies of international law IlAs and domestic investment and other policies Different IlAs within a country's network

Source: UNCTAD.

Table IV.4. Reform tools	
Reform tools	Examples
1. Adding new provisions	 Public policy exceptions Clause on compliance with domestic laws Clause on not lowering of standards Clause on CSR
2. Eliminating (omitting) existing provisions	FET, MFN, umbrella clause, ISDS
3. Reformulating existing provisions	Clarifying the content of FET Indirect expropriation
4. Carving-out aspects	Circumscribing (in IIA clauses or reservations) the Scope of the treaty Scope of protected investments/investors Scope of application of key clauses (e.g. MFN, national treatment) Scope of access to ISDS
5. Linking provisions	Conditioning protections on Investor behaviour
6. Calibrating the normative intensity of provisions	Hortatory languageTransition phases/phase-insDifferentiated obligations
7. Creating/strengthening institutional mechanisms	Within the IIA, a joint committee, council or working group, coordinating and facilitating dialogue and cooperation on Investment promotion, the prevention of disputes, the interpretation of provisions, the review of the agreement Beyond the IIA, An appeals facility, an international investment court
8. Referring to other bodies of law	Managing the interaction between IIAs and other bodies of law with a view to avoiding inconsistencies and seeking synergies, e.g. Preamble References to CSR instruments Reaffirmations of contracting parties' commitments under other international law instruments References to the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties ISDS rules

Source: UNCTAD.

2. UNCITRAL

9. In 2017, UNCITRAL tasked a working group (Working Group III or "WG3") to investigate potential reforms of the ISDS process. WG3 listed the concerns expressed about ISDS:

Concerns commonly expressed about the existing ISDS regime include (i) inconsistency in arbitral decisions, (ii) limited mechanisms to ensure the correctness of arbitral decisions, (iii) lack of predictability, (iv) appointment of arbitrators by parties ("party-appointment"), (v) the impact of party-appointment on the impartiality and independence of arbitrators, (vi) lack of transparency, and (vii) increasing duration and costs of the procedure. These concerns, further considered below, have been said to undermine the legitimacy of the ISDS regime and its democratic accountability (see document A/CN.9/917, paras. 11-12). These concerns fall within two broad categories: those concerning the arbitral process and outcomes (see section B) and those relating to arbitrators/decision-makers.⁶²

⁶² UNCITRAL (2017), *Possible reform of investor-State dispute settlement (ISDS)*, Working Group III (Investor-State Dispute Settlement Reform), Thirty-fourth session, Vienna, 27 November-1 December, 2017, A/CN.9/WG.III/WP.142, at 20.

- 10. WG3 identified, for discussion purposes, a wide array of possible reforms for potential consideration, with the view, among other objectives, of improving the coherence and consistency of the ISDS regime. Among possible avenues for reform, the following were identified⁶³:
 - Establish a multilateral advisory centre to provide legal advice on investment law before a dispute
 arises and act as counsel when there is a dispute; the centre could also help countries in capacitybuilding and the sharing of best practices;
 - Establish a procedure for the prior scrutiny of arbitral awards and alternatively, the creation of a stand-alone appellate mechanism, for purposes of ensuring consistency in the interpretation of the provisions of IIAs and rectifying errors in awards;
 - Establish a stand-alone international investment court, possibly supplemented by an appellate tribunal;
 - Improve the manner and conditions of selecting and appointing ISDS tribunal members and considering implementing a code of conduct for arbitrators;
 - Promote greater use of methods that improve the parties' control over their IIAs, such as by including in their IIAs provisions on joint, unilateral or multilateral interpretative declarations, providing guidance to arbitral tribunals on the meaning of certain terms, or adopting binding interpretations of IIA obligations;
 - Strengthen the involvement of State authorities through mechanism that would allow for State-State preliminary consideration of issues, including technical consultations, decisions by the respective State authorities, as well as setting-up a joint review committee by the treaty Parties, or other mechanisms that could intervene if the issue cannot be settled at the technical level in a given time period;
 - Strengthen alternative dispute settlement mechanisms, such as mediation and the institution of an ombudsman:
 - Address frivolous or unmeritorious claims; include limitations, such as statute of limitations for bringing claims, or summary dismissal of claims; and
 - Establish expedited procedures in order to reduce the duration and costs of ISDS.
- 11. Of particular interest for purposes of this Report was a suggestion to strengthen the involvement of state authorities for preliminary settlement of disputes with respect to "technical issues" (identifying taxation as an example). This would mean the design of "a mechanism that would allow technical authorities established by treaty Parties to decide whether a claim falls outside the limited scope of claims that are subject to ISDS, as well as substantive matters such as questions relating to violations of national treatment and substantive MFN clauses". ⁶⁴ No specific recommendation on this issue appears to have been formulated to date.

⁶³ UNICTRAL (2019), *Possible reform of investor-State dispute settlement (ISDS)*, Working Group III (Investor-State Dispute Settlement Reform), Thirty-eighth session, Vienna, 14–18 October 2019, A/CN.9/WG.III/WP.166.

⁶⁴ UNICTRAL (2018), *Possible reform of investor-State dispute settlement (ISDS)*, Working Group III (Investor-State Dispute Settlement Reform) Thirty-sixth session Vienna, 29 October–2 November 2018, A/CN.9/WG.III/WP.149, at 31-32.

- 12. In July 2023, UNCITRAL approved the finalization of guidance in two areas: a code of conduct for arbitrators⁶⁵ and a model⁶⁶ and guidelines⁶⁷ to promote the use of mediation an alternative dispute resolution mechanism. The code of conduct sets out ethical rules for arbitrators involved in international investment disputes. It seeks to promote the integrity of the ISDS process and reduce conflicts of interest. Its key provisions reinforce the duty of independence and impartiality of arbitrators (avoid conflicting loyalties or taking instruction from outside persons regarding a case), broaden the requirements to disclose any potential conflicts of interest, and restricts the practice of "double-hatting", by which an individual acts in two different roles in ISDS cases simultaneously or within a short time period (for example, acting as an arbitrator and a counsel simultaneously), a practice that appears to be quite prevalent⁶⁸.
- 13. The model provisions on mediation seek to encourage the use of mediation for resolving international investment disputes amicably. Recommended for inclusion in investment treaties, the model provisions allow parties to exercise control over the mediation process to reach a mutually acceptable outcome. The Guidelines provide practical guidance to parties on the use of mediation by listing and briefly describing issues that should be considered when undertaking investment mediation. The model provisions stipulate that the parties may engage in mediation at any time, including after the commencement of any other dispute resolution proceeding. Where mediation is agreed upon after the commencement of an ISDS process, the latter must be suspended until the termination of mediation.
- 14. The work of WG3 is on-going and specific recommendations in other areas are expected to be presented in the future.

⁶⁵ UNICTRAL (2023), *UNCITRAL Code of Conduct for Arbitrators in International Investment Dispute Resolution*. United Nations, New York and Geneva.

⁶⁶ UNICTRAL (2023), UNCITRAL Model Provisions on Mediation for International Investment Disputes. United Nations, New York and Geneva.

⁶⁷ UNICTRAL (2023), UNCITRAL Guidelines on Mediation for International Investment Disputes. United Nations, New York and Geneva.

⁶⁸ In about 47% of ISDS cases, at least one of the appointed arbitrators was simultaneously acting as legal counsel in at least one other ISDS proceeding. See World Bank Group (2021), International Centre for Settlement of International Disputes, *Code of Conduct – Background Papers: Double-Hatting*, Washington.

Annex 3

Categories of Taxation Articles

While there exist many different ways to codify the treatment of taxation matters in IIAs, it is possible to sort out taxation articles in broad categories, according the basic design approach that they adopt. Three main categories can be identified: targeted tax exclusion, broad tax exclusion and complete or near complete tax exclusion. The following provides a description of the defining characteristics of each approach.

1. Targeted Tax Exclusion

Under this approach, the default position is that the obligations of the IIA do apply to taxation measures, except as provided for in the article.

Typical content of tax article

- Definition of terms used in the article:
- Interpretation of the NT obligation as it applies to taxation measures; for example, it is specified that distinctions based on residence are acceptable;
- Clarification that the agreement does not prevent the imposition of anti-avoidance measures;
- Exclusion of advantages granted under DTAs from the scope of the MFN obligation;
- Coordination of the jurisdiction of the IIAs with relevant DTAs (i.e., stipulating that a DTA prevails over the IIA in case of conflict); this is supplemented by a procedure (filter) requiring tax experts to determine, in specific cases, whether there exists an inconsistency between both agreements.

Pros

- The treatment of taxation is calibrated such that a balance is struck between the necessity to protect tax policy space and the goal of ensuring investment protection.
- Filter(s) grant(s) a formal role to tax officials in the adjudication of important issues before they proceed to ISDS.

Cons

• Unlike other approaches, allegations of a breach of the NT, MFN and FET obligations against an income tax measure may be litigated by an arbitral tribunal under an IIA, subject to the host country invoking in the course of ISDS proceedings the provisions of the taxation article that allows tax laws to make distinctions on the basis of the residence or to enact anti-avoidance measures; thus, some degree of uncertainty as regards the development and implementation of tax policy remains under this approach.

Recent examples of agreements that adopted the approach

- Advanced Framework Agreement between the European Union and Chile (signed December 13, 2023);
- Free Trade Agreement between the European Union and New Zealand (signed July 9, 2023);
- Agreement Between the European Union and Japan for an Economic Partnership (signed on July 17, 2018; came into force on February 1, 2019).

2. Broad Tax Exclusion

Basic approach

Under this approach, the default position is that the obligations of the IIA do not apply to taxation measures, except as set out in the article.

Typical content of tax article

- Definition of terms used in the article:
- No obligations of the IIA apply to taxation measures, except as is set out in the article;
- Coordination of the jurisdiction of the IIAs with relevant DTAs (i.e., stipulating that a DTA prevails over the IIA in case of conflict); may be supplemented by a procedure (filter) requiring tax experts to determine, in specific cases, whether there exists an inconsistency between both agreements
- Selected obligations of the IIAs are made to apply in respect of taxation measures. For example, they may include:
 - The NT obligation and the MFN obligation; they may apply in respect of all taxation measures or certain taxes only (e.g., taxes other than direct taxes);
 - The obligations may apply in respect of existing and future taxation measures or only in respect of future taxation measures; in addition, this provision may specify that the obligations do not prevent the adoption or enforcement of new taxation measures aimed at ensuring the equitable or effective imposition or collection of taxes;
 - Other selected provisions may apply in respect of taxation measures, for example, the provisions prohibiting certain performance requirements, and those pertaining to expropriation;
- Exclusion of advantages granted under DTAs from the scope of the MFN obligation; and
- Provision of a filter to allow taxation authorities to determine whether a taxation measure alleged to be an expropriation is, in fact, not an expropriation. A similar filter may be used to mandate that other issues be addressed by taxation authorities. The joint determination of taxation authorities is binding on the arbitral tribunal.

Pros

- No ISDS litigation can take place pursuant to the NT or MFN obligation in respect of taxation measures specifically excluded under the tax article (e.g., existing or existing and future direct taxation measures), thus providing certainty that they are immune from ISDS proceedings.
- Filter(s) grant(s) a role to tax officials in the adjudication of important issues before they proceed to ISDS.

Cons

• May be viewed as less favourable to the objective of investment protection, as certain taxation measures are immune from the application of certain key obligations of the IIA.

Recent examples of agreements that adopted the approach

- Free Trade Agreement between New Zealand and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland (signed on February 28, 2022; entered into force on May 31, 2023);
- Free Trade Agreement between the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and Australia (signed on December 17, 2021; entered into force on May 31, 2023);
- Free Trade Agreement Between the Government of the State of Israel and the Government of the Republic of Korea (signed on May 12, 2021);
- Agreement between the United States of America, the United Mexican States, and Canada (USMCA) (signed on December 12, 2019; entered into force on July 1, 2020);
- Comprehensive and Progressive Agreement for Trans-Pacific Partnership (CPTPP) (signed on March 8, 2018; entered into force on December 30, 2018, in the first six countries to have ratified the agreement: Canada, Australia, Japan, Mexico, New Zealand, and Singapore);
- Agreement Between the Government of Canada and the Government of the Republic of Moldova for the Promotion and Protection of Investments (signed on June 12, 2018; entered into force on August 23, 2019).

3. Complete or Near Complete Tax Exclusion

Basic approach

Under this approach, the default provision is that the obligations of the IIA **do not apply to taxation measures**, sometimes with some limited exceptions set out in the article.

- Few, if any, provisions of the IIA apply in respect of taxation measures;
- Typically, taxation measures are fully immune from the NT and MFN obligations
- In some instances, one or more of the following provisions may be applicable in respect of taxation measures: transfers of funds; transparency; and expropriation. In the latter case, the article may include a filter to allow taxation authorities to determine whether a taxation measure alleged to be an expropriation is, in fact, not an expropriation. The joint determination of taxation authorities is binding on the arbitral tribunal.

Pros

Provides maximum certainty with respect to the goal of protecting tax policy space,

Cons

• Undermines significantly the goal of investment protection, as taxation is effectively removed from the scope of the IIA, thus leaving investors uncertain regarding the theoretical prospect of taxation being used in an abusive manner, without any legal recourse being available under the IIA.

Recent examples of agreements that adopted the approach

- Comprehensive Economic Partnership Agreement between the Government of the Republic of Indonesia and the Government of the Republic of Korea (signed on December 18, 2020; entered into force on January 1, 2023);
- Agreement between Japan and the Kingdom of Bahrain for the Reciprocal Promotion and Protection of Investment (signed on June 22, 2022; entered into force on September 6, 2023)

- Agreement Between Australia and the Oriental Republic of Uruguay on the Promotion and Protection of Investments (signed on April 5, 2019; entered into force on January 27, 2022);
- Economic Cooperation and Trade Agreement between the Government of the Republic of India and the Government of Australia (signed on April 2, 2022; entered into force on December 29, 2022);
- Comprehensive Economic Partnership Agreement between the Republic of Indonesia and the EFTA States (signed on December 16, 2018; entered into force on November 1, 2021);
- Investment Cooperation and Facilitation Treaty between the Federative Republic of Brazil and the Republic of India (signed on January 25, 2020);
- Investment Agreement Between the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China and the Government of the Republic of Chile (signed on November 18, 2016; entered into force on July 14, 2019);
- Agreement Between the State of Israel and Japan for the Liberalization, Promotion and Protection of Investment (signed on February 1, 2017; entered into force on October 5, 2017);

Attachment B

The GATS Clause and Related Issues – Possible UN Model Tax Convention Changes (Article 25)

I. Introduction

- 1. This note presents a range of options for the next update of the UN Model Tax Convention to provide for inclusion of the Article 25 "General Agreement on Trade in Services (GATS) clause" in the text of that Article, and to address related issues notably the issue of whether there should be a similar clause in relation to other non-tax agreements.
- 2. At the Committee's Twenty-third Session, the question of whether the GATS clause contained in the Commentary on Article 25 of the 2017 OECD Model Tax Convention and picked up in the UN Model Convention should be elevated from an option in the UN Model Commentary to a provision in the text of the Article itself was addressed in E/C.18/2021/CRP.36. The issue of the possible usefulness of a similar provision in relation to other trade and investment-related agreements, especially given the increasingly common regional trade and investment agreements, was also noted.
- 3. At the Committee's Twenty-seventh Session, a Secretariat background note on country practices on the use of the GATS clause was presented at Annex B of <u>E/C.18/2023/CRP.30</u>. During the Session, the Subcommittee proposed to submit for first consideration at the Twenty-eighth Session a draft including a GATS clause in the text of Article 25, also exploring the possibility of having an "extended provision" to encompass other relevant agreements, such as so-called "Free Trade Agreements" or "Trade and Investment Agreements".
- 4. The outcomes of discussion at the Twenty-seventh Session of the Committee were as follows, as indicated in the report of that Session:
 - 122. With regard to workstream B, on the relationship between tax treaties and the General Agreement on Trade in Services of the World Trade Organization, the Subcommittee proposed that the General Agreement provision currently contained in the Model Convention commentary should be given greater visibility by including it directly into the text of the Model Convention article. The Subcommittee was also exploring the possibility of having an alternative "extended provision", designed to encompass other agreements, such as regional free trade agreements. In that regard, the Subcommittee would work closely with the Subcommittee on Updating the Model Convention with the aim of presenting a draft of the provision (and commentary) at the twenty-eighth session and a final version for approval during the twenty-ninth session.

II. Possible amendments to Article 25

5. The first issue that the Subcommittee considered is whether to elevate the GATS provision in the Commentary to the text of Article 25 itself. The Subcommittee as a whole remains of the view that elevating the GATS clause from an optional provision in the Commentary to a formal part of Article 25 in the UN Model Tax Convention would raise its prominence and the awareness of the issues related to the interaction between the GATS and tax treaties, serving as a strong guidance for developing countries, considering the use and influence of the UN Model

Tax Convention in the negotiation of bilateral tax treaties. The Subcommittee as a whole considers that this is especially the case because absence of the GATS provision in a tax treaty risks leaving the decision about the scope of such a treaty to the WTO dispute settlement system, which lacks specialized tax expertise. Such a scenario could lead to interpretations that may potentially undermine the effectiveness of tax treaties.

6. The Committee indicated no disagreement with this approach at the Twenty-seventh Session and the Subcommittee seeks confirmation at the Twenty-eighth Session of this way forward. A possible amendment to Article 25 to include the GATS clause could read as follows:

Article 25

MUTUAL AGREEMENT PROCEDURE

Article 25 (Alternative A)

(...)

5. For the purposes of paragraph 3 of Article XXII (Consultation) of the General Agreement on Trade in Services, the Contracting States agree that, notwithstanding that paragraph, any dispute between them as to whether a measure falls within the scope of this Convention may be brought before the Council for Trade in Services, as provided by that paragraph, only with the consent of both Contracting States. Any doubt as to the interpretation of this paragraph shall be resolved under paragraph 3 of this Article or, failing agreement under that procedure, pursuant to any other procedure agreed to by both Contracting States.

Article 25 (Alternative B)

(...)

- 6. For the purposes of paragraph 3 of Article XXII (Consultation) of the General Agreement on Trade in Services, the Contracting States agree that, notwithstanding that paragraph, any dispute between them as to whether a measure falls within the scope of this Convention may be brought before the Council for Trade in Services, as provided by that paragraph, only with the consent of both Contracting States. Any doubt as to the interpretation of this paragraph shall be resolved under paragraph 3 of this Article or, failing agreement under that procedure, pursuant to any other procedure agreed to by both Contracting States.
- 7. The current GATS clause in the Commentary to Article 25 reads as follows:

For purposes of paragraph 3 of Article XXII (Consultation) of the General Agreement on Trade in Services, the Contracting States agree that, notwithstanding that paragraph, any dispute between them as to whether a measure falls within the scope of this Convention may be brought before the Council for Trade in Services, as provided by that paragraph, only with the consent of both Contracting States. Any doubt as to the interpretation of this paragraph shall be resolved under paragraph 3 of Article 25 or, failing agreement under that procedure, pursuant to any other procedure agreed to by both Contracting States.

This text raises some issues as to scope, which are considered below, but may be more relevant to any new extended provisions than to the long established GATS clause, with similar guidance in the UN and OECD Models.

What is a "measure"

8. The GATS clause uses the term "measure" because the GATS applies to "measures" and therefore that is the area of possible overlap. Article XXVIII(a) of the GATS defines the term broadly (though with some circularity) as "any measure by a Member, whether in the form of a law, regulation, rule, procedure, decision, administrative action, or any other form".

"Falls within the scope"

- 9. It follows from the GATS clause that the decision for the tax officials under the GATS clause is whether such a measure "falls within the scope" of the tax agreement. As noted by paragraph 92 of the OECD Commentary on Article 25, picked up by paragraph 53 of the UN Model Commentary on the same Article, this term is a vexed one:
 - ... the phrase "falls within the scope" is inherently ambiguous, as indicated by the inclusion in paragraph 3 of Article XXII of the GATS of both an arbitration procedure and a clause exempting pre-existing conventions from its application in order to deal with disagreements related to its meaning. Whilst it seems clear that a country could not argue in good faith that a measure relating to a tax to which no provision of a tax convention applied fell within the scope of that convention, it is unclear whether the phrase covers all measures that relate to taxes that are covered by all or only some pro- visions of the tax convention.
- 10. The term "falls within the scope" is used in the GATS itself, so an interpretation of that in the UN Model would not necessarily influence the WTO, and the matter is instead left to the competent authorities to address. A question arising in Subcommittee discussions is whether actions relating to a tax that was itself a covered tax, but where the actions themselves were not treaty-relevant, would be construed as falling within the scope of the relevant DTA.
- 11. One view held by some Subcommittee participants has been that a measure should only be treated as falling "within the scope of the tax agreement" if the dispute relating to it is *capable of resolution* by the Mutual Agreement Procedure. This approach sees the "capability of resolution" test as in effect a proxy for testing what matters truly "fall within the agreement". In other words the Competent Authorities should not, on this view, deny a GATS action unless it would, in principle, be possible for them to resolve the matter under Article 25 (in the absence of litigation in the domestic Courts). The discussion of the interaction between tax agreements and other (non-GATS) agreements might seem to suggest this, when it says (at paragraph 94 of the OECD Commentary, picked up by the UN Commentary at paragraph 53, with emphasis added):

Problems similar to those discussed above may arise in relation with other bilateral or multilateral agreements related to trade or investment. Contracting States are free, in the course of their bilateral negotiations, to amend the provision suggested above so as to ensure that issues relating to the taxes covered by their tax convention are dealt with through the mutual agreement procedure rather than through the dispute settlement mechanism of such agreements

12. On this view, to speak of disputes being "capable of" resolution by MAP responds to the role of the Competent Authorities and the placement of the GATS clause in Article 25, but will

recognise that the taxpayer is free to litigate in the domestic courts contending that the disputed taxation is not taxation in accordance with the relevant DTA. Essentially, the dispute must come under the DTA-- and to say that the dispute would be capable of resolution by MAP, as it concerns taxation not in accordance with the requirements of the relevant DTA, is just another way of stating it must *fall within the scope of the DTA*. Consideration of whether an issue is capable of MAP resolution is, on this approach, a proxy for what falls within the scope of the DTA.

- 13. On another view, held by some other Subcommittee participants, the decision of the Competent Authorities is intended to be decisive as to whether government action under the GATS is possible, and it deliberately gives a broad discretion to Competent Authorities as to exactly what issues "fall within the scope" of a tax agreement. On this view that feature, and the fact that MAP is only one aspect of treaty dispute resolution, in any case shows that capability of resolution under MAP is inherently an over-restrictive "proxy". It may be that matters may legitimately "fall within the agreement" without being capable of MAP resolution, but they may be resolvable in other ways without, on this view accepting capability of resolution under a treaty as a necessarily corollary for what falls within the agreement.
- 14. On this view the coverage of the agreement should be considered in determining what is within its scope, and that does not require consideration only of dispute resolution possibilities under the DTA, let alone just one form of them. The placement in Article 25 is seen as convenient as it accords a special function to Competent Authorities, not because MAP becomes a proxy for a broader issue. On one aspect of this view, any ambiguities in a term such as "fall within the agreement" must be resolved by the Competent Authorities (as indicated by the Commentary on the current GATS clause) and to propose any form of proxy may limit their ability to determine that issue based on a broader reading of the double tax agreement. It may also be more complex than a simpler test of whether a matter related to one of the taxes covered by the agreement. A test of whether a matter was capable of MAP resolution might even, on this view, encourage the dispute settlement body of the trade or investment agreement to determine that in its objective view the issue was objectively incapable of MAP resolution, so that the Competent Authorities lacked jurisdiction to prevent action before that non-tax agreement body.
- 15. The current GATS clause does not seek to resolve these issues in that context if the tax authorities agree that it falls within the scope of the tax agreement, then the GATS recourse is blocked. If not, that recourse remains open. It tries to avoid a preliminary jurisdictional test (which could be applied by a non-tax body) as to whether the Competent Authorities are even given the matter to consider. Of course only countries may take GATS action, not individual taxpayers. In effect one country's Competent Authority will be agreeing that its own government was not able to take GATS action, but the decision would have no bearing upon the availability of domestic law action by taxpayers.
- 16. If more guidance could assist the MAP competent authorities in this rare GATS-related case, it is not likely that such guidance could be prepared in the terms of this Subcommittee or Committee Membership, *in relation to the GATS clause*, especially since engagement with the OECD at least would be advisable. Such additional guidance is not proposed at this stage, but the Committee may decide otherwise. The issue of whether the matter should be addressed specifically in the context of any proposed *new* extended (i.e. "non-GATS") provision is considered below.

III. How should the Article 25 Commentary be updated?

17. In bringing the GATS clause into the text of Article 25, at least some changes will need to be made to the Commentary to that Article. In particular, the Committee will need to consider proposed amendments to paragraph 53, as well as any new paragraphs dealing with an extended provision in more detail. Currently, paragraph 53 cites paragraphs 88 to 94 of the Commentary on Article 25 of the 2017 OECD Model Tax Convention, which detail the existing issues along with the solution adopted in the GATS and finally present the GATS provision.

The "style" of the Commentary

- 18. In terms of style, this can be done in two basic ways. One option is to retain the Commentary ultimately drawn from the OECD Model, simply modified to reflect the fact that the clause provided as an option in paragraph 93 of the Commentary to Article 25 will now be in the text of that Article, rather than merely being noted as an option in the Commentary. Those in the Subcommittee preferring this approach see it as preserving consistency of interpretation between cases where the clause is used, whether the UN or OECD Models are used as a reference point, as following the usual practice in the Model and as avoiding any suggestion that the departure from quoting the OECD reflects possible differences of interpretation.
- 19. **The other option** for the Commentary would be to reflect the terms of the OECD Commentary on Article 25, but not avoid directly quoting it. Those favouring this option in the Subcommittee are of the view that, as the UN Model would be taking a somewhat different approach to the OECD Model, by including the GATS provision in the text of Article 25 itself, it is not just possible, but appropriate, for the Committee to more directly state its views on the issues. On this view, any such direct statement could, and should, reflect the same interpretation as under the 2021 UN and OECD Models.
- 20. Those favouring this latter option believe that it is no longer necessary to quote the OECD Commentary as extensively as in the past, and the process of reducing quotes from the OECD Model in the UN Model would confirm the independent but OECD and other organizations aware approach of the Committee. Proponents believe that the importance of consistent interpretations could be recognized by specifically noting that there is not intended to be any change of interpretation from that found in the 2021 UN Model (which would implicitly indicate alignment on substantive issues with the OECD Model) or specific acknowledgement that apart from the placement of the clause in the text of the Article, the two Commentaries are regarded as being aligned on all substantive matters.

The substance of the Commentary

- 21. Amendments would, under either option as to style (either directly quoting the OECD Model or an independent but harmonious explanation) be required to paragraph 53 of the UN Model Commentary to reflect that paragraph 93 of the OECD Model Commentary is no longer fully applicable, in the light of the new approach taken in the UN Model.
- 22. More specifically, whichever of the above options is taken on the quotation issue, the Commentary on Article 25 would require updating to explain the rationale behind the proposed amendment. These changes are introduced through the addition of a new paragraph 58 to the

existing Commentary on Article 25 of the UN Model. A possible formulation could be as follows:

58. In 202[5], the Committee decided to amend Article 25 to include in the text of Article 25 itself the provision referred in the preceding paragraph, with no substantive amendments. In making this change, the Committee recognized the necessity of a clear, consistent framework to address potential issues arising from the interaction between tax treaties and the GATS. Concerns were raised that providing the text of the GATS provision in the Commentary alone does not sufficiently promote solution of the identified potential issues. The Committee noted that this provision was not being included in tax treaties to the extent that might be expected. In the view of the Committee, integrating the GATS provision into the text would raise the profile of the solution already provided in both the UN and OECD Models. The Committee considered that the provision's presence in the Article itself would encourage discussion of the treaty interaction issue and is likely to lead to wider adoption across jurisdictions, recognizing the importance of the UN Model Tax Convention in tax treaty negotiations, especially for developing countries. In light of these considerations, the Committee has deemed it prudent to elevate the GATS provision, establishing it as a standard element of the text of Article 25. It is important to note, however, that the supporting reasons for such a provision are essentially stated in the same way as under the previous UN Model and OECD Model Commentaries.

A possible extended provision

- 23. Paragraph 94 of the OECD Commentary on Article 25, which is incorporated into paragraph 53 of the UN Model, notes that issues similar to those arising with the GATS may also emerge in the context of other bilateral or multilateral trade or investment agreements. It clarifies that Contracting States have the discretion during their bilateral negotiations to modify the GATS clause, ensuring that tax-related issues under their tax convention are addressed via the mutual agreement procedure, rather than through the dispute resolution mechanisms of such agreements. The use of some provisions with a broader scope than the GATS clause in treaty practice was reflected in the Secretariat background note on country practices (Annex B of E/C.18/2023/CRP.30). Regional and inter-regional trade and investment agreements are common candidates,
- 24. In this context, some Subcommittee participants considered that any new Commentary to Article 25 should not only reinforce the importance of addressing the specific issues identified with the GATS, but also provide a drafting option that broadens the provision's scope to address interactions with other agreements. This is in light of the complex and multi-dimensional network of trade, investment and related treaties (such as so called "Free Trade Agreements" or "Trade and Investment Agreements") that countries are increasingly entering into.
- 25. During subcommittee discussions, it was suggested that a broader provision could be introduced as an alternative provision in the Commentary on Article 25 or the text of the Article. This would give countries the flexibility to consider its inclusion during treaty negotiations. However, the subcommittee emphasized the importance of having a clear understanding of the scope, functionality and other critical aspects of such a new broader provision. There are at least two possible approaches to including a clause broader than the current GATS clause.
- 26. The first option would be a single provision that encompassed the GATS clause but extended beyond it to take a similar approach to other treaties. The possible benefit of such

an approach would be to deal more comprehensively with the relationship of tax treaties with trade and investment treaties, reflecting the modern landscape of tax-relevant agreements more accurately. One risk is that it may not deal adequately with either the GATS or Free Trade Agreements. Another risk is that it does not provide a solution for those countries just wanting to address the GATS issue, such as because they are not party to other relevant agreements, or because they believe such other agreements can most effectively deal with the issues themselves, taking into account the characteristics and terminology of the agreement. Another risk is that it may be treating unlike agreements as like. A single clause would only be effective if the same end was sought for all agreements covered, and the same means could be used to achieve it. In view of these risks, the Subcommittee does not recommend such an approach at this stage

- 27. **The second option** would be to retain the GATS clause as a distinct provision, with a broader clause as an add-on provision for like-minded countries. The benefit of this approach is that the GATS issue can be addressed in a way consistent with the 2021 UN and 2017 OECD Models, therefore avoiding any suggestion that the relationship between tax treaties and the GATS was in some way changing. However, for those countries wishing to address other treaties, a separate option can be provided, each provision being tailored to a particular style of treaty. The potential risk is that the two clauses might operate in a differentiated way when a single clause might have given a more integrated operation, but this appears less than the risks of the other main option outlined in paragraph 26 above.
- 28. If the Committee favors the option of an extended provision, the Subcommittee recommends this approach of two distinct clauses as, at this stage, the best balance of certainty over the GATS clause and flexibility to cover other types of agreements. Of course, if this option is chosen, the broader clause could either be part of the text of Article 25 or could be addressed in the Commentary as a possible provision for like-minded countries for which it addressed a practical issue, just as is the case with the GATS clause now.
- 29. One difference to the current GATS clause (which applies to an agreement that entered into force almost 30 years ago) is that, whichever option is taken for a broader provision, it may not apply to trade or investment agreements that are later in time than the tax agreement including the clause. This often-complex issue of relationships between earlier and later treaties could either be left unaddressed, or else the clause could be explicitly restricted in its application to prior agreements, which could include agreements prior to a protocol to the tax treaty that would have been specifically entered into to cover the trade agreements concerned.

Scope of an extended provision

30. While the Subcommittee does not recommend any changes of scope in terms of the GATS provision, the issue of the scope of a broader "add-on" provision needs to be considered. First of all, the provision must respond to the issues likely to arise under another treaty. In terms of the GATS, that was the issue of whether a measure "falls within the scope" of the relevant tax agreement. The issues noted above about this and similar terminology therefore arise for any extended provision.

¹ See, e.g. the *lex posterior* rule in Article 30, *Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties*, (widely regarded as representing customary international law)1155 UNTS 331

31. In dealing with a group of treaties that may have different styles, a less specific expression of the overlap is justified. One current treaty formulation that some Subcommittee participants propose as an extended provision that should be included in the Model in some form is:

Notwithstanding any other treaties of which the Contracting States are or may become parties, any dispute over a measure taken by a Contracting State involving a tax covered by Article 2 or, in the case of non-discrimination, any taxation measure taken by a Contracting State, including a dispute whether this Agreement applies, shall be settled only under the Agreement, unless the competent authorities of the Contracting States agree otherwise.

- 32. Such a provision replicates the basic structure of the GATS clause by giving precedence to the tax agreement over the other agreement where there is a dispute over a "measure" "involving" an Article 2 tax (or, in the case of non-discrimination, any taxation measure). This formulation, like the GATS one, has some inherent uncertainties, so that the issue of whether that carveout applies is left to the Competent Authorities.
- 33. The provision outlined at paragraph 31 above provides that the matter is reserved for decision under the tax treaty, and in that sense, it is framed differently from the GATS clause which only prevents consideration by the WTO. If it is understood that the clause does not seek to limit rights before courts, and does not promise a MAP remedy, this might be seen by some as a suitable corollary to the GATS clause for these other treaties.
- 34. The quoted extended provision at paragraph 31 also purports to apply to future treaties, but it could at least be questioned how effective that would be in practice, with the Vienna Convention Law of Treaties rule noted at paragraph 29 above, generally recognizing that later treaties in time take precedence. The relevant "time" of an amended treaty can sometimes be a point of difference, but using a treaty protocol, with a distinct date of coming into force, which is the usual practice, should make clear the precedence of the amended double tax agreement over non-tax treaties coming into force after the double tax agreement in general had initially come into force but before the amending protocol's entry into force. An alternative is to explicitly only apply the provision to existing trade and investment treaties.
- 35. The default position in a clause such as quoted above is that the issue is to be settled under the tax agreement it applies unless Competent Authorities decide to the contrary. This reflects the GATS clause whereby the matter can go to the WTO only if both Competent Authorities agree. This conclusion would be subject, in the view of some Subcommittee participants, to the proposition that, in effect, if the tax agreement is silent in respect of the tax matter concerned, notwithstanding that it relates to a covered tax, then the Competent Authorities will be compelled to accept that reality and that the dispute is incapable of settlement "under the [tax] Agreement", to use the example clause noted above at paragraph 31 though formulations will vary.
- 36. In reference to that last point, one option put forward that seeks to address some of the issues raised in connection with the type of clause outlined in paragraph 31 and which might be considered useful in some situations:

Notwithstanding any other treaties of which the Contracting States are parties, any dispute over a taxation measure taken by a Contracting State involving a tax covered by Article 2 or, in the case of non-discrimination, any taxation measure taken by a Contracting State, including a dispute whether this Agreement applies, shall be resolved only under the Agreement, but if the competent

- authorities of the Contracting States agree that the Agreement does not apply to such a dispute notwithstanding that it involves a taxation measure, they shall endeavour to resolve the dispute on a fair and equitable basis, to the extent and in such manner as they may agree.
- 37. The Subcommittee therefore seeks guidance from the Committee on the issue noted in this paper of whether, if an extended provision is provided in the Model, the carve-out giving the tax treaty precedence, and allowing Competent Authorities to decide the jurisdictional issue, should apply only for issues that fall within the scope of the tax treaty concerned or whether, on the other hand, a disputed measure could for example, be "settled . . . under the Agreement [tax treaty]" even if the underlying issue is not within the scope of the tax treaty concerned, in that the tax treaty does not address that type of issue and is silent in that regard.
- 38. With a view to the drafting of any extended provision and its Commentary, Committee views are sought on this policy point in relation to the construction of the words "settled only under this Agreement" in the example of an extended provision at paragraph 31: Does it apply (a) only to issues within the scope of the tax treaty concerned or (b) to any issues, so long as they involve relevant covered taxes? Then, if it applies only to (a), would an alternative formulation apply to (b) and what is the preferable outcome, in terms of policy and practicality.
- 39. Finally would the Committee prefer an alternative extended provision such as provided at paragraph 36 above to be included as an option alongside the type of clause at paragraph 31, or instead of it, or does it seek further Subcommittee work on such options.

IV. Questions for the Committee

- 40. The questions for Committee consideration at this stage are therefore as follows:
 - 1. Does the Committee confirm that the GATS clause should be in the text of Article 25 itself, rather than remaining only in the Commentary?
 - 2. If yes to 1, should the Commentary on the provision directly quote the OECD where it is still relevant, or should it be paraphrased, perhaps clarifying the lack of any change in substance from the 2021 Model, other than as to placement of the clause?
 - 3. If yes to 1, should there be an extended provision (i.e. a clause referencing the interaction of the tax treaty with trade and investment treaties other than the GATS) currently referenced as a possibility in the Commentary, to address the interaction with such non-GATS treaties in addition to the GATS clause in the Model or in the Commentary?
 - 4. The Subcommittee has provided some discussion and two possible draft texts for an extended provision. If the Committee decides to include an extended provision in the Model, what is the preferred type of text to go into the Model, or should there be two alternatives in the Model?